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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.
Xponential Fitness, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)

(amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
 

  June 30,   December 31,  
  2025   2024  

Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ 38,679  $ 32,739 
Accounts receivable, net (Note 10)   36,700   25,884 
Inventories   7,392   10,016 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   14,823   10,678 
Deferred costs, current portion   4,813   4,598 
Notes receivable from franchisees, net   286   232 

Total current assets   102,693   84,147 
Property and equipment, net   13,908   14,651 
Right-of-use assets   20,277   24,036 
Goodwill   127,789   135,240 
Intangible assets, net   94,350   100,944 
Deferred costs, net of current portion   37,643   39,923 
Notes receivable from franchisees, net of current portion   94   100 
Other assets   3,061   4,356 
Total assets  $ 399,815  $ 403,397 

Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity (deficit)       
Current liabilities:

      
Accounts payable  $ 23,066  $ 27,011 
Accrued expenses   43,444   31,323 
Deferred revenue, current portion   24,462   25,912 
Current portion of long-term debt   5,497   5,397 
Other current liabilities   16,418   18,244 

Total current liabilities   112,887   107,887 
       
Deferred revenue, net of current portion   100,050   105,935 
Contingent consideration from acquisitions (Note 16)   6,730   17,729 
Long-term debt, net of current portion, discount and issuance costs   352,554   341,742 
Lease liability   21,335   23,858 
Other liabilities   2,615   251 
Total liabilities   596,171   597,402 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)       
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 400 shares authorized, 
     115 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024   116,810   116,810 
Stockholders' equity (deficit):       

Undesignated preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 4,600 shares authorized, none issued and 
    outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024   —   — 
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value, 500,000 shares authorized, 35,082 and 33,660 shares 
    issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively   3   3 
Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value, 500,000 shares authorized, 13,738 and 14,739 shares issued,
    and 13,663 and 14,664 shares outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, 
    respectively   1   1 
Additional paid-in capital   497,186   503,850 
Receivable from shareholder (Note 10)   (17,673)   (16,891)
Accumulated deficit   (702,791)   (701,837)
Treasury stock, at cost, 75 shares outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024   (1,697)   (1,697)

Total stockholders' deficit attributable to Xponential Fitness, Inc.   (224,971)   (216,571)
Noncontrolling interests   (88,195)   (94,244)

Total stockholders' deficit   (313,166)   (310,815)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders' deficit  $ 399,815  $ 403,397 

 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Xponential Fitness, Inc. 

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)

(amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,
  2025   2024   2025   2024   
Revenue, net:              

Franchise revenue  $ 45,353   $ 43,020   $ 89,247   $ 84,774   
Equipment revenue   9,509    12,925    20,613    26,825   
Merchandise revenue   5,613    6,134    11,868    14,479   
Franchise marketing fund revenue   9,461    8,380    18,730    16,212   
Other service revenue   6,272    6,444    12,633    14,306   

Total revenue, net   76,208    76,903    153,091    156,596   
Operating costs and expenses:            

Costs of product revenue   10,505    13,933    22,477    28,499   
Costs of franchise and service revenue   3,955    5,834    8,052    10,881   

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 10)   24,084    36,989    69,629    73,609   
Impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets   12,928    12,089    14,843    12,089   
Depreciation and amortization   

2,973
   

4,517
   

5,929
   

8,953
  

Marketing fund expense   8,855    7,847    18,212    14,362   
Acquisition and transaction expenses (income)   (1,915 )   (1,217 )   (10,553 )   3,298   

Total operating costs and expenses   61,385    79,992    128,589    151,691   
Operating income (loss)   14,823    (3,089 )   24,502    4,905   
Other expense (income):

           
Interest income   (701 )   (387 )   (1,320 )   (750 )  
Interest expense   12,975    11,256    24,363    22,801   
Other expense   891    253    1,975    862   

Total other expense   13,165    11,122    25,018    22,913   
Income (loss) before income taxes   1,658    (14,211 )   (516 )   (18,008 )  
Income taxes   312    132    797    85   
Net income (loss)

  1,346    (14,343 )   (1,313 )   (18,093 )  
Less: net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests   377    (4,780 )   (359 )   (6,050 )  
Net income (loss) attributable to Xponential Fitness, Inc.  $ 969   $ (9,563 )  $ (954 )  $ (12,043 )  
              
Net loss per share of Class A common stock:              

Basic  $ (0.01 )  $ (0.30 )  $ (0.11 )  $ (0.59 )  
Diluted  $ (0.01 )  $ (0.30 )  $ (0.11 )  $ (0.59 )  

Weighted average shares of Class A common stock outstanding:              
Basic   34,972    31,806    34,444    31,465   
Diluted   34,972    31,806    34,444    31,465   

 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Xponential Fitness, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes to Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
(Unaudited)

(amounts in thousands)
 

  
Class A Common 

Stock   Class B Common 
Stock   Treasury Stock                 

  
Shares   Amo

unt   Shares   Amo
unt   Shares   Amoun

t   
Additional 

Paid-In 
Capital

  

Receivable 
from 

Shareholde
r

  Accumulated
Deficit   Noncontrolling

interests   
Total

Equity 
(Deficit)

 

Balance at December 31, 2024   
33,66

0   $ 3    
14,73

9   $ 1    75  $
(1,69

7 )  $ 503,850   $ (16,891)  $ (701,837)  $ (94,244)  $
(310,81

5 )
Equity-based compensation   —   —   —   —   —   —   3,281    —   —   —   3,281  
Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (1,923)   (736 )   (2,659)

Conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares   1,000    —   
(1,00

0 )   —   —   —   (6,784)   —   —   6,784    — 
Issuance of Class A common stock under stock-based 
compensation plans, net of shares withheld for taxes   118    —   —   —   —   —   (919 )   —   —   —   (919 )
Loan to shareholder and accumulated interest   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (384 )   —   —   (384 )
Distributions paid to Pre-IPO LLC Members   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (315 )   (315 )
Preferred stock dividend   —   —   —   —   —   —   (1,898)   —   —   —   (1,898)
Balance at March 31, 2025   

34,77
8    3    

13,73
9    1    75   

(1,69
7 )   497,530    (17,275)   (703,760)   (88,511)   

(313,70
9 )

Equity-based compensation   —   —   —   —   —   —   2,666    —   —   —   2,666  
Net income   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   969    377    1,346  
Conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares   1    —   (1 )   —   —   —   (56)   —   —   56   — 
Issuance of Class A common stock under stock-based 
compensation plans, net of shares withheld for taxes

 
 303    —   —   —   —   —   (1,056)   —   —   —   (1,056)

Loan to shareholder and accumulated interest   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (398 )   —   —   (398 )
Distributions paid to Pre-IPO LLC Members   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (117 )   (117 )
Preferred stock dividend   —   —   —   —   —   —   (1,898)   —   —   —   (1,898)
Balance at June 30, 2025  

 
35,08

2   $ 3    
13,73

8   $ 1    75  $
(1,69

7 )  $ 497,186   $ (17,673)  $ (702,791)  $ (88,195)  $
(313,16

6 )

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Xponential Fitness, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes to Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
(Unaudited)

(amounts in thousands)
 

  
Class A Common 

Stock
  Class B Common 

Stock
  Treasury Stock  

               

  
Shares   

Amou
nt   Shares   

Amou
nt   Shares   Amount   

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital

  
Receivable 

from 
Shareholder

  
Accumulated

Deficit   
Noncontrolling

interests   
Total

Equity 
(Deficit)

 

Balance at December 31, 2023   
30,89

7  $ 3   
16,56

6  $ 2   75   $
(1,69

7)  $ 521,307   $ (15,440 )  $ (634,179 )  $ (79,528 )  $ (209,532 )
Equity-based compensation   —   —   —   —   —   —   3,252    —   —   1    3,253  
Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (2,480 )   (1,270 )   (3,750 )
Conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares   78    —   (78)   —   —   —   (8,837 )   —   —   8,837    — 
Preferred stock dividend   —   —   —   —   —   —   (1,863 )   —   —   —   (1,863 )
Adjustment of preferred stock to redemption value   —   —   —   —   —   —   (8,106 )   —   —   —   (8,106 )
Issuance of Class A common stock under stock-based 
compensation plans, net of shares withheld for taxes

 
 607   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   — 

Distributions paid to Pre-IPO LLC Members   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (36)   (36)
Payment received from shareholder   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   14   —   —   14 
Loan to shareholder and accumulated interest   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (349)   —   —   (349)
Balance at March 31, 2024  

 
31,58

2   3    
16,48

8   2    75    
(1,69

7)   505,753    (15,775 )   (636,659 )   (71,996 )   (220,369 )
Equity-based compensation   —   —   —   —   —   —   4,884    —   —   1    4,885  
Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (9,563 )   (4,780 )   (14,343 )

Conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares   398   —   (398)   —   —   —   (2,904 )   —   —   2,904    — 
Preferred stock dividend   —   —   —   —   —   —   (2,150 )   —   —   —   (2,150 )
Adjustment of preferred stock to redemption value   —   —   —   —   —   —   2,012    —   —   —   2,012  
Issuance of Class A common stock under stock-based 
compensation plans, net of shares withheld for taxes

 
 180   —   —   —   —   —   74   —   —   —   74 

Loan to shareholder and accumulated interest   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (360)   —   —   (360)
Distributions paid to Pre-IPO LLC Members   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (206)   (206)
Balance at June 30, 2024  

 
32,16

0 
 

$ 3 
 

 
16,09

0 
 

$ 2   75  
 

$
(1,69

7)
 

$ 507,669  
 

$ (16,135 )
 

$ (646,222 )
 

$ (74,077 )
 

$ (230,457 )
                                  

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Xponential Fitness, Inc. 

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

(amounts in thousands)
 

  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024  

Cash flows from operating activities:       
Net loss  $ (1,313)  $ (18,093)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:       

Depreciation and amortization   5,929    8,953  
Amortization and write off of debt issuance costs   87   124  
Amortization and write off of discount on long-term debt   3,664    2,201  
Change in contingent consideration from acquisitions   (10,553)   2,770  
Non-cash lease expense   2,207    4,109  
Change in tax receivable agreement liability   1,975    862  
Bad debt expense   1,163    1,467  
Equity-based compensation   5,947    8,138  
Non-cash interest   (747 )   (649 )
Gain on disposal of assets   (931 )   (6,645)
Impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets   14,843   12,089 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisition:       
Accounts receivable   (11,949)   1,159  
Inventories   2,624    4,309  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  

 (4,146)
 

 (2,915)
Operating lease liabilities   (1,934)   (2,965)
Deferred costs   2,065    2,324  
Notes receivable, net   1    2  
Accounts payable   (4,662)   3,919  
Accrued expenses   12,127   (2,708)
Other current liabilities   (2,417)   (988 )
Deferred revenue   (7,335)   (11,067)
Other assets   1,296    282  
Other liabilities   400    (996 )

Net cash provided by operating activities   8,341    5,682  
Cash flows from investing activities:      

Purchases of property and equipment   (1,992)   (2,984)
Proceeds from sale of assets   —   346  
Purchase of intangible assets   (803 )   (1,016)
Notes receivable issued   (173 )   — 
Notes receivable payments received   108    393  
Acquisition of businesses   —   (8,500)

Net cash used in investing activities  
 (2,860)

 
 

(11,761
)

Cash flows from financing activities:      
Borrowings from long-term debt   10,000   38,701 
Payments on long-term debt   (2,748)   (41,178)
Debt issuance costs   (90)   (269 )
Payment of preferred stock dividend and deemed cash dividend   (3,796)   (1,968)
Payments of contingent consideration   (500 )   — 
Payments for taxes related to net share settlement of restricted share units   (2,097)   — 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in connection with stock-based compensation plans   122    74 
Payments for tax receivable agreement   —   (136 )
Payments for distributions to Pre-IPO LLC Members   (432 )   (236 )
Payment received from shareholder (Note 10)   —   14 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   459    (4,998)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   5,940    (11,077)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period   32,739   37,094 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period  $ 38,679  $ 26,017 
 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Xponential Fitness, Inc. 

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

(amounts in thousands)
 

  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024  

Supplemental cash flow information:       
Interest paid  $ 20,444  $ 20,100 
Income taxes paid, net   233    407  

Non-cash investing and financing activities:      
Capital expenditures accrued at period end  $ 1,516  $ 1,179 
Adjustment of convertible preferred stock to redemption value   —   6,094 
Contingent consideration upon acquisition   —   446  
Debt issuance costs paid-in-kind - long-term debt   10,872   4,059 
Debt issuance costs exit fees - long-term debt   7,248   — 
Non-cash proceeds from sale of asset   —   275  
Preferred stock dividend paid-in-kind   —   2,150 

 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.



Xponential Fitness, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

(amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
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Note 1 – Nature of Business and Operations 

Xponential Fitness, Inc. ( “XPO Inc.”), and together with its subsidiaries, ( the “Company” or “we,” “us,” and “our”), was formed as a Delaware corporation on 
January 14, 2020 for the purpose of facilitating an initial public offering (“IPO”) and entered into a series of transactions to implement an internal reorganization. Pursuant 
to a reorganization into a holding company structure, the Company is a holding company with its principal asset being an ownership interest in Xponential Fitness LLC 
(“XPO LLC”) through its ownership interest in Xponential Intermediate Holdings, LLC (“XPO Holdings”).

XPO LLC was formed on August 11, 2017 as a Delaware limited liability company for the sole purpose of franchising fitness brands, through its subsidiaries, in 
several verticals within the boutique fitness industry. XPO LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary of XPO Holdings, which was formed on February 24, 2020, and prior to the 
IPO, ultimately, H&W Franchise Holdings, LLC (the “Parent”). Prior to the formation of XPO Holdings, the Company was a wholly owned subsidiary of H&W Franchise 
Intermediate Holdings, LLC (the “Member”).

As of June 30, 2025, the Company’s portfolio of eight brands consisted of: “Club Pilates,” a Pilates facility franchisor; “CycleBar,” a premier indoor cycling 
franchise; “StretchLab,” a fitness concept offering one-on-one assisted stretching services; “YogaSix,” a yoga concept that concentrates on connecting to one’s body in a 
way that is energizing; “Pure Barre,” a total body workout concept that uses the ballet barre to perform small isometric movements; “Rumble,” a boxing concept that offers 
boxing-inspired group fitness classes; “BFT,” a high-intensity interval training concept that combines functional, high-energy strength, cardio and conditioning-based 
classes, designed to achieve the unique health goals of its members; and “Lindora,” a provider of medically guided wellness and metabolic health solutions, which was 
acquired on January 2, 2024. The Company, through its boutique fitness brands, licenses its proprietary systems to franchisees who in turn operate studios to promote 
training and instruction programs to their club members within each vertical. Additionally, the Company, through its ownership of the Lindora brand, franchises clinics that 
provide medically guided wellness and metabolic health solutions to its members. In addition to franchised studios, the Company operated one company-owned transition 
studio as of June 30, 2025 and 2024.

On February 13, 2024, the Company divested the Stride brand, including the intellectual property, franchise rights and franchise agreements for open studios. On 
May 20, 2024, the Company divested the Row House brand, including the intellectual property, franchise rights and franchise agreements for open studios. Additionally, 
during the three months ended September 30, 2024, the Company announced the wind down of AKT franchise operations. See Note 4 for additional information.

In connection with the IPO, XPO Inc. entered into a series of transactions to implement an internal reorganization (the “Reorganization Transactions”). The pre-IPO 
members of XPO Holdings (the “Pre-IPO LLC Members”) who retained their equity ownership in the form of limited liability company units (the “LLC Units”), 
immediately following the consummation of the Reorganization Transactions are referred to as “Continuing Pre-IPO LLC Members.” 

Because XPO Inc. manages and operates the business and controls the strategic decisions and day-to-day operations of XPO LLC through its ownership of XPO 
Holdings and because it also has a substantial financial interest in XPO LLC through its ownership of XPO Holdings, it consolidates the financial results of XPO LLC and 
XPO Holdings, and a portion of its net income (loss) is allocated to the noncontrolling interest to reflect the entitlement of the Continuing Pre-IPO LLC Members to a 
portion of XPO Holdings’ net income or loss.

As the sole managing member of XPO LLC, the Company operates and controls all of the business and affairs of XPO LLC. The Company consolidates XPO LLC 
on its condensed consolidated financial statements and records a noncontrolling interest related to the Class B units held by the Class B stockholders on its condensed 
consolidated balance sheet and statement of operations.



Xponential Fitness, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

(amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
 

8

Basis of presentation – The Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). In the opinion of management, the Company has made all adjustments necessary to present fairly the condensed consolidated 
statements of operations, balance sheets, changes in stockholders' equity (deficit), and cash flows for the periods presented. Such adjustments are of a normal, recurring 
nature. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto 
included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Interim 
results of operations are not necessarily indicative of results of operations to be expected for a full year.

On January 2, 2024, the Company acquired Lindora Franchise, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, the franchisor of the Lindora wellness brand (the 
“Lindora Franchisor” or “Lindora”), and has included the results of operations of Lindora in its condensed consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date 
forward. See Note 4 for additional information.

Reclassifications – To conform with current year presentation, the Company has reclassified gift card receivable of $5,809 from accounts receivable, net, to 
prepaid expenses and other current assets in the December 31, 2024 condensed consolidated balance sheet. The Company has reclassified certain prior period amounts to 
conform with the current period presentation on the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows. Specifically, within the condensed consolidated statements of cash 
flows, changes in tax receivable agreement liability which was previously included in other current liabilities is now reported separately. The reclassifications do not affect 
previously reported cash flows from operating activities in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows.

Principles of consolidation – The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates – The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual 
results could differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Note 2 – Correction of Previously Issued Financial Statements

As previously disclosed in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements within Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in the 
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, subsequent to the issuance of the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements 
for the period ended June 30, 2024, the Company identified misstatements impacting previously issued financial statements. The Company concluded that the aggregate 
impact of all the errors did not result in a material misstatement of previously issued condensed consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2024. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, have been corrected from 
amounts previously reported. The Company has also corrected related amounts within the accompanying footnotes.

The identified misstatements impacting the condensed consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 include the following, for 
which the amounts described below are the net impact:

A.Rebates – Certain agreement terms had not been properly or timely communicated to be considered for their accounting impact resulting in misstatements including 
overstatement of costs of product revenue of $27 and understatement of costs of product revenue of $223 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, 
respectively. Additionally, there was an understatement of merchandise revenue of $252 and an overstatement of merchandise revenue of $113 for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2024, respectively.

B.Revenues – The Company’s evaluation of certain revenue contracts did not appropriately evaluate the accounting for all key terms and conditions, resulting in:

1.An understatement of other service revenue of $134 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024.

2.An understatement of merchandise revenue of $537 and costs of product revenue of $429 for the six months ended June 30, 2024.



Xponential Fitness, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

(amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
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C.Other:

1.Cost of product revenue – Certain costs and fees related to inventory were not properly expensed in the appropriate period, resulting in an understatement of 
cost of product revenue of $1,094 and $157 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively.

2.Impairment of assets – Company did not properly assess the disposition of the Stride brand subsequent to the balance sheet date as an impairment indicator 
as of the balance sheet date, resulting in an overstatement of selling, general and administrative expenses of $338 and an understatement of cost of product 
revenue for inventory write downs of $64 for the six months ended June 30, 2024.

3.Legal accruals – Certain legal liabilities had not been communicated to be considered for their accounting impact resulting in an overstatement of selling, 
general and administrative expenses of $328 for the six months ended June 30, 2024.

4.Equipment inventory – Equipment inventory which had been received by the Company was not properly recorded resulting in an understatement of cost of 
product revenue of $95 for the six months ended June 30, 2024.

5.Cost of product revenue – The Company improperly recognized deferred costs related to equipment resulting in an understatement of $273 of costs of 
product revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2024.

6.Invoices – The Company did not properly account for certain vendor invoices, including not recognizing expenses in the period incurred, resulting in an 
overstatement of costs of franchise and service revenue of $74 and an understatement of selling, general and administrative expenses of $128 for the six 
months ended June 30, 2024.

D.The Company has also corrected certain other rounding and immaterial reclassifications that were identified.

The impact of the correction of errors to the Company's condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and the 
condensed consolidated statement of changes to stockholders' equity (deficit) and the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 
2024 are presented below:

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations  Three Months Ended June 30, 2024  
  As Previously Reported   Adjustments   Reference  As Corrected  
Revenue, net:            

Merchandise revenue  $ 5,882    252   A  $ 6,134  
Other service revenue   6,310    134   B1   6,444  

Total revenue, net   76,517    386      76,903  
Operating costs and expenses:           

Costs of product revenue   12,866    1,067   A, C1   13,933  
Total operating costs and expenses   78,925    1,067      79,992  

Operating income   (2,408 )   (681 )     (3,089 )
Loss before income taxes   (13,530 )   (681 )     (14,211 )
Net loss   (13,662 )   (681 )     (14,343 )
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests   (4,560 )   (220 )     (4,780 )
Net loss attributable to Xponential Fitness, Inc.  $ (9,102 )  $ (461 )    $ (9,563 )
            
Net income (loss) per share of Class A common stock:            

Basic  $ (0.29 )  $ (0.01 )    $ (0.30 )
Diluted  $ (0.29 )  $ (0.01 )    $ (0.30 )
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations  Six Months Ended June 30, 2024  
  As Previously Reported   Adjustments   Reference  As Corrected  
Revenue, net:            

Merchandise revenue  $ 14,055    424  A, B2  $ 14,479  
Other service revenue   14,172    134  B1   14,306  

Total revenue, net   156,038    558     156,596  
Operating costs and expenses:           

Costs of product revenue   27,257    1,242  A, B2, C1, C2, C4, C5, D   28,499  
Costs of franchise and service revenue   10,955    (74)  C6   10,881  
Selling, general and administrative expenses

  
74,144

   (535)  C2, C3, C6, D   
73,609

 
Total operating costs and expenses   151,058    633     151,691  

Operating income   4,980    (75)     4,905  
Loss before income taxes   (17,933 )   (75)     (18,008 )
Net loss   (18,018 )   (75)     (18,093 )
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests   

(6,049
)   

(1
)     

(6,050
)

Net loss attributable to Xponential Fitness, Inc.  $ (11,969 )  $ (74)    $ (12,043 )
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes to 
Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)  As Previously Reported
                 

  
Additional Paid-In 

Capital   

Receivable
from Member/

Shareholder   
Accumulated

 Deficit   
Noncontrolling 

interests   
Total Equity 

(Deficit)   
Balance at December 31, 2023  $ 521,998  $ (15,426)  $ (630,127 )  $ (77,547)  $ (202,794)  
Net loss   —   —   (2,867 )   (1,489)   (4,356)  
Conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares   (9,264)   —   —    9,264   —  
Payment received from shareholder   —   —   —    —   —  
Balance at March 30, 2024   506,017   (15,775)   (632,994 )   (69,807)   (214,251)  
Net loss   —   —   (9,102 )   (4,560)   (13,662)  
Conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares   (2,851)   —   —    2,851   —  
Balance at June 30, 2024  $ 507,986  $ (16,135)  $ (642,096 )  $ (71,721)  $ (223,658)  
                 
                 

  Adjustments
                 

  
Additional Paid-In 

Capital   

Receivable
from Member/

Shareholder   
Accumulated

 Deficit   
Noncontrolling 

interests   
Total Equity 

(Deficit)   
Balance at December 31, 2023  $ (691)  $ (14)  $ (4,052 )  $ (1,981)  $ (6,738)  
Net income   —   —   387    219   606  
Conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares   427   —   —    (427)   —  
Payment received from shareholder   —   14   —    —   14  
Balance at March 30, 2024   (264)   —   (3,665 )   (2,189)   (6,118)  
Net loss   —   —   (461 )   (220)   (681)  
Conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares   (53)   —   —    53   —  
Balance at June 30, 2024  $ (317)  $ —  $ (4,126 )  $ (2,356)  $ (6,799)  

                 
                 
  As Corrected
                 

  
Additional Paid-In 

Capital   

Receivable
from Member/

Shareholder   
Accumulated

 Deficit   
Noncontrolling 

interests   
Total Equity 

(Deficit)   
Balance at December 31, 2023  $ 521,307  $ (15,440)  $ (634,179 )  $ (79,528)  $ (209,532)  
Net loss   —   —   (2,480 )   (1,270)   (3,750)  
Conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares   (8,837)   —   —    8,837   —  
Payment received from shareholder   —   14   —    —   14  
Balance at March 30, 2024   505,753   (15,775)   (636,659 )   (71,996)   (220,369)  
Net loss   —   —   (9,563 )   (4,780)   (14,343)  
Conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares   (2,904)   —   —    2,904   —  
Balance at June 30, 2024  $ 507,669  $ (16,135)  $ (646,222 )  $ (74,077)  $ (230,457)  
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  Six Months Ended June 30, 2024  

  
As Previously 

Reported   Adjustments   Reclassification   As Corrected  
Cash flows from operating activities:             
Net loss  $ (18,018)  $ (75)  $ —  $ (18,093)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:             

Non-cash lease expense   3,937   172   —   4,109 
Change in tax receivable agreement liability   —   —   862   862 
Gain from disposal of assets   (6,660)   15   —   (6,645)

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:             
Accounts receivable   1,715   (556)   —   1,159 
Inventories   1,451   2,858   —   4,309 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (2,386)   (529)   —   (2,915)
Operating lease liabilities   (2,699)   (266)   —   (2,965)
Deferred costs   2,051   273   —   2,324 
Accounts payable   3,419   500   —   3,919 
Accrued expenses   35   (2,743)   —   (2,708)
Other current liabilities   3,197   (4,185)   —   (988)
Deferred revenue   (11,404)   337      (11,067)
Other liabilities   (4,319)   4,185   (862)   (996)

Net cash provided by operating activities   5,696   (14)   —   5,682 
Cash flows from financing activities:            

Payment received from shareholder   —   14   —   14 
Net cash used in financing activities   (5,012)   14   —   (4,998)
 
 

Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash – The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash 
equivalents. The Company's restricted cash consists of marketing fund restricted cash, which can only be used for activities that promote the Company’s brands and 
guarantee of standby letter of credit (See Note 16). Marketing fund restricted cash was $16,146 and $15,312 at June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively. The 
interest earned on marketing fund restricted cash accounts is also restricted for use. Total restricted cash was $16,934 and $16,063 at June 30, 2025 and December 31, 
2024, respectively.

Accounts receivable and allowance for expected credit losses – Accounts receivable primarily consist of amounts due from franchisees and vendors. These 
receivables primarily relate to royalties, advertising contributions, equipment and product sales, training, vendor commissions and other miscellaneous charges. The 
Company’s payment terms on its receivables from franchisees are generally 30 days. Receivables are unsecured; however, the franchise agreements provide the Company 
the right to withdraw funds from the franchisee’s bank account or to terminate the franchise for nonpayment.

The Company’s accounts and notes receivable are recorded at net realizable value, which includes an appropriate allowance for expected credit losses. On a 
periodic basis, the Company evaluates its accounts and notes receivable balances and establishes an allowance for expected credit losses. The estimate of expected credit 
losses is based upon historical bad debts, current receivable balances, age of receivable balances, the franchisee's or customer’s financial condition and ability to comply 
with credit terms and current economic trends, all of which are subject to change. Actual uncollected amounts have historically been consistent with the Company’s 
expectations. Account balances are written off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the activity related to the Company’s accounts receivable and notes receivable allowance for credit losses:
 

  Accounts receivable   Notes receivable   Total  
Balance at December 31, 2024  $ 2,510  $ 205   $ 2,715 
Bad debt expense recognized during the year   1,133   30   1,163 
Write-off of uncollectible amounts   (1,997)   (122)   (2,119)
Balance at June 30, 2025  $ 1,646  $ 113   $ 1,759 

Revenue recognition – The Company’s contracts with customers consist of franchise agreements with franchisees. The Company also enters into agreements to 
sell merchandise and equipment, training, on-demand video services and membership to company-owned transition studios. The Company’s revenues primarily consist of 
franchise license revenues, other franchise related revenues including equipment and merchandise sales and training revenue. In addition, the Company earns on-demand 
revenue, service revenue and other revenue. 

Each of the Company’s primary sources of revenue and their respective revenue policies are discussed further below.

Franchise revenue – The Company enters into franchise agreements for each franchised studio. The Company’s performance obligation under the franchise 
license is granting certain rights to access the Company’s intellectual property; all other services the Company provides under the franchise agreement are highly 
interrelated, not distinct within the contract, and therefore accounted for as a single performance obligation, which is satisfied over the term of each franchise agreement. 
Those services include initial development, operational training, preopening support and access to the Company’s technology throughout the franchise term. Fees 
generated related to the franchise license include development fees, royalty fees, marketing fees, technology fees and transfer fees. Variable fees are not estimated at 
contract inception, and are recognized as revenue when invoiced, which occurs monthly. The Company has concluded that its agreements do not contain any financing 
components.

Franchise development fee revenue – The Company’s franchise agreements typically operate under ten-year terms with the option for up to two additional five-year 
successor terms. Starting in 2025 new franchise agreements typically operate under ten-year terms with the option for one additional ten-year successor term. The Company 
determined the successor options are neither qualitatively nor quantitatively material and do not represent a material right. Initial franchise fees are non-refundable and are 
typically collected upon signing of the franchise agreement. Initial franchise fees are recorded as deferred revenue when received and are recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the franchise life, which the Company has determined to be ten years, as the Company fulfills its promise to grant the franchisee the rights to access and benefit 
from the Company’s intellectual property and to support and maintain the intellectual property.

Prior to the second quarter of 2025, the Company would enter into an area development agreements with certain franchisees. Area development agreements are for 
a territory in which a developer has agreed to develop and operate a certain number of franchise locations over a stipulated period of time. The related territory is 
unavailable to any other party and is no longer marketed to future franchisees by the Company. Depending on the number of studios purchased under franchise agreements 
or area development agreements, the initial franchise fee ranges from $60 (single studio) to $350 (ten studios) and is paid to the Company when a franchisee signs the 
franchise agreement or the area development agreement. Area development fees are initially recorded as deferred revenue. The development fees are allocated to the 
number of studios purchased under the development agreement. The revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the franchise life for each studio under the 
development agreement. Development fees and franchise fees are generally recognized as revenue upon the termination of the development agreement with the franchisee.
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Starting in the second quarter of 2025, the Company may enter into multi-unit agreements with certain franchisees. Under these agreements, a developer has 
agreed to develop and operate a certain number of franchise locations over a stipulated period of time. The multi-unit agreement fees are allocated to the number of studios 
to be developed and as part of the agreement, franchisees are required to remit the full fee associated with the first franchise license and make nonrefundable development 
fee payments of $10 each to reserve the right to open the subsequent studios as specified. Fees received for the initial franchise license are recorded as deferred revenue. 
Development fee payments received in advance for studios expected to open within one year are classified as short-term liabilities and development fee payments received 
in advance for studios expected to open beyond one year are classified as long-term liabilities. Nonrefundable development fee payments are applied towards the multi-
unit agreement fees and the remaining balance for each subsequent studio is due upon site selection for the studio and signing of a franchise agreement by the franchisee. 
Revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the franchise life for each studio under the multi-unit agreement. Multi-unit agreement fees and nonrefundable 
development fee payments are generally recognized as revenue upon the termination of the multi-unit agreement with the franchisee.

The Company may enter into master franchise agreements with master franchisees, under which the master franchisee sells licenses to franchisees in one or more 
countries outside of North America. The master franchise agreements generally provide a ten-year period under which the master franchisee may sell licenses. The master 
franchise agreement term ends on the earlier of the expiration or termination of the last franchise agreement sold by the master franchisee. Initial master franchise fees are 
recorded as deferred revenue when received and are recognized on a straight-line basis over 20 years.

Franchise royalty fee revenue – Royalty revenue represents royalties earned from each of the franchised studios in accordance with the franchise disclosure 
document and the franchise agreement for use of the brands’ names, processes and procedures. The royalty rate in the franchise agreement is typically 7% of the gross 
sales of each location operated by each franchisee. The royalties are entirely related to the Company’s performance obligation under the franchise agreement and are billed 
and recognized as franchisee sales occur.

Technology fees – The Company may provide access to third-party or other proprietary technology solutions to the franchisees for a fee. The technology solution 
may include various software licenses for statistical tracking, scheduling, allowing club members to record their personal workout statistics, music and technology support. 
The Company bills and recognizes the technology fee as earned each month as the service is performed and access is provided.

Transfer fees – Transfer fees are paid to the Company when one franchisee transfers a franchise agreement to a different franchisee. Transfer fees are recognized as 
revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the new or assumed franchise agreement, unless the original franchise agreement for an existing studio is terminated, in 
which case the transfer fee is recognized immediately.

Training revenue – The Company provides coach training services either through direct training of the coaches who are hired by franchisees or by providing the 
materials and curriculum directly to the franchisees who utilize the materials to train their hired coaches. Direct training fees are recognized over time as training is 
provided. Training fees for materials and curriculum are recognized at the point in time of delivery of the materials.

The Company also offers coach training and final coach certification through online classes. Fees received by the Company for online class training are recognized 
as revenue over time for the 12-month period that the Company is obligated to provide access to online training content.

Comprehensive income – The Company does not have any components of other comprehensive income recorded within the consolidated financial statements and 
therefore does not separately present a consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Fair value measurements – Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, applies to all financial assets and 
financial liabilities that are measured and reported on a fair value basis and requires disclosure that establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands 
disclosure about fair value measurements. ASC Topic 820 establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosures of the inputs to valuations used to measure fair value.
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This hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three broad levels as follows:

Level 1 – Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be accessed at the measurement date.

Level 2 – Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are 
not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (i.e., interest rates and yield curves), and inputs that are derived principally 
from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means (market corroborated inputs).

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that reflect assumptions about what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. These inputs would be based on the 
best information available, including the Company’s own data.

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, notes receivable, accounts payable, accrued 
expenses, notes payable and other current liabilities. The carrying amounts of these financial instruments approximate fair value due to their short maturities, proximity of 
issuance to the balance sheet date or variable interest rate.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

Segment Reporting – In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) No. 2023-07, 
“Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures.” ASU 2023-07 improves reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily 
through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. In addition, the amendments enhance interim disclosure requirements, clarify circumstances in which an 
entity can disclose multiple segment measures of profit or loss, provide new segment disclosure requirements for entities with a single reportable segment, and contain other 
disclosure requirements. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 during the fourth quarter of 2024, using a retrospective method. The adoption expanded the Company’s 
disclosures but did not have a material impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements. See Note 18 for additional information.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

The Company qualifies as an “emerging growth company” under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”) and will lose this qualification 
on December 31, 2026, which is the last day of the fiscal year after the fifth anniversary of the Company's IPO, or sooner. An emerging growth company may take 
advantage of reduced reporting requirements and is relieved of certain other significant requirements that are otherwise generally applicable to public companies. As an 
emerging growth company, the JOBS Act permits the Company an extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards affecting public 
companies. The Company has elected to use this extended transition period.

Income Taxes Disclosures – In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures.” 
ASU 2023-09 requires disaggregated information about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid. ASU 2023-09 is 
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024 for public business entities (“PBEs”) and December 15, 2025 for entities other than PBEs with early 
adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its condensed consolidated financial statements.

Income Statement Expense Disclosures – In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, “Income Statement (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of 
Income Statement Expenses.” ASU 2024-03 requires disaggregated information about specified categories of expenses included in certain captions presented on the face 
of the income statement including purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, amortization, and depletion. ASU 2024-03 is effective for public entities 
with annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is 
currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Business Combinations and Consolidation – In May 2025, the FASB issued ASU No. 2025-03, “Business Combinations (Topic 805) and Consolidation (Topic 
810): Determining the Accounting Acquirer in the Acquisition of a Variable Interest Entity.” ASU No. 2025-03 provides clarifying guidance on determining the 
accounting acquirer in certain transactions involving VIEs. The update aims to improve consistency and comparability in financial reporting. The guidance will be 
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026, including interim periods within those annual periods. Early adoption is permitted. Upon adoption, the 
guidance will be applied prospectively. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this amended guidance may have but do not expect the adoption of the guidance 
to have a material impact on its condensed consolidated financial statements.

Supplemental balance sheet information
 

  June 30,   December 31,  
  2025   2024  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets       
Prepaid expenses and other  $ 6,812   $ 2,210  
Tax receivables   2,591    2,659  
Gift card receivable   5,420    5,809  
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 14,823   $ 10,678  
 
       
Accrued expenses       
Accrued compensation  $ 2,902   $ 1,914  
Contingent consideration from acquisitions, current portion   575    581  
Sales tax accruals   837    1,197  
Legal accruals   29,259    13,835  
Other accruals   9,871    13,796  
Total accrued expenses  $ 43,444   $ 31,323  
 
       
Other current liabilities       
Lease liabilities, short-term  $ 5,856   $ 5,276  
Promissory note   3,467    3,350  
Tax receivable agreement liability, current portion   11    2,090  
Gift card liability   5,420    5,809  
Other current liabilities   1,664    1,719  
Total other current liabilities  $ 16,418   $ 18,244  
 

Note 4 – Acquisitions and Dispositions

The Company completed the following acquisitions and dispositions which contain Level 3 fair value measurements related to the recognition of goodwill and 
intangibles.

Studios

During the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company refranchised operations at 0 and 10 company-owned transition studios, respectively, received no 
proceeds in either period, and recorded a net loss of $0 and $122 on disposal of the studio assets, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the 
Company also ceased operations at 0 and 11 company-owned transition studios, respectively. The Company enfranchised or closed company-owned transition studios under 
its restructuring plan that started in the third quarter of 2023. See Note 17 for further discussion of the Company's restructuring plan.
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When the Company believes that a studio will be refranchised for a price less than its carrying value but does not believe the studio has met the criteria to be 
classified as held for sale, the Company reviews the studio for impairment. The Company evaluates the recoverability of the studio assets by comparing estimated sales 
proceeds plus holding period cash flows, if any, to the carrying value of the studio. For studio assets that are not deemed to be recoverable, the Company recognizes 
impairment for any excess of carrying value over the fair value of the studios, which is based on the expected net sales proceeds. During the three and six months ended June 
30, 2025 and 2024, the Company did not record any impairment charges related to studio assets. See Note 9 for discussion of impairment charges related to right-of-use 
assets.

Lindora Acquisition

On December 1, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire Lindora Franchise, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, the franchisor of the 
“Lindora” wellness brand (the “Lindora Franchisor”), for cash consideration of $8,500. The transaction also includes up to $1,000 of contingent consideration which is 
subject to the achievement of certain milestones. Payment of additional consideration is contingent on Lindora reaching two milestones based on a certain gross sales target 
and the number of operating clinics during the 15-month and 24-month period following the acquisition date, respectively. At the acquisition date, the Company determined 
that the fair value of the estimated contingent consideration liability was $446. The Lindora Franchisor was a subsidiary of Lindora Wellness, Inc. (“Lindora Wellness”). 
Lindora Wellness has owned and operated each of the Lindora clinics in California for at least 25 years and currently owns and operates 30 Lindora clinics in California and 
a single Lindora clinic in the state of Washington. Immediately prior to the execution of the purchase agreement on December 1, 2023, Lindora Wellness signed 31 franchise 
agreements with the Lindora Franchisor pursuant to which Lindora Wellness will continue to operate its Lindora Clinics as a franchisee of the Lindora Franchisor. The 
acquisition of the Lindora Franchisor was completed on January 2, 2024. The acquisition of Lindora complements the Company's existing brands and will help the Company 
deliver on consumers’ increasing demand for a holistic approach to health.

The transaction was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires the assets acquired to be recorded at their 
respective fair value as of the date of the transaction. The Company determined the estimated fair values after review and consideration of relevant information as of the 
acquisition date, including discounted cash flows, quoted market prices and estimates made by management. The fair values assigned to intangible assets acquired are based 
on management's estimates and assumptions. The acquisition was not material to the results of operations of the Company.

The following summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date based on the purchase price allocation:
 

  Amount  
Trademarks  $ 2,700  
Franchise agreements   3,900  
Goodwill   2,346  
Total assets acquired  $ 8,946  

The goodwill recognized in this acquisition was attributable to the synergies that the Company expects to achieve. The fair values, which are Level 3 measurements, 
of the recognizable intangible assets are comprised of trademarks and franchise agreements. The fair value of the trademarks was estimated by the relief from royalty 
method and are considered to have an eleven-year life. The fair value of the franchise agreements was based on the excess earnings method and are considered to have a ten-
year life. Inputs used in the methodologies primarily included sales forecasts, projected future cash flows, royalty rate and discount rate commensurate with the risk 
involved. Goodwill and intangible assets recognized from this acquisition are expected to be tax deductible. See Note 7 for discussion of impairment charges related to 
goodwill and intangible assets.

The Company did not incur any transaction costs related to acquisitions during the three and six months ended June 30, 2025. During the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2024, the Company incurred $100 and $528, respectively, of transaction costs related to acquisitions, which is included in acquisition and transaction expenses in 
the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Pro forma financial information and revenue from the date of acquisition have not been provided for these acquisitions as they are not material either individually or 
in the aggregate.
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Divestiture of Stride brand – On February 13, 2024, the Company entered into an agreement with a buyer, pursuant to which the Company divested the Stride 
brand, including the intellectual property, franchise rights and franchise agreements for open studios. The buyer of the Stride brand is a former member of management and 
shareholder of the Company. The Company received no consideration from the divestiture of the Stride brand and will assist the buyer with transition support including cash 
payments of approximately $265 payable over the 12-month period following divestiture. The divestiture allows the Company to better focus and utilize its resources on its 
other brands. The Company recognized a gain on divestiture of $61, which was included within selling, general and administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated 
statements of operations. The divested brand did not represent a strategic shift that has a major effect on the Company's operations and financial results, and, as such, it was 
not presented as discontinued operations.

Divestiture of Row House brand – On May 20, 2024, the Company entered into an agreement with a buyer, pursuant to which the Company divested the Row 
House brand, including the intellectual property, franchise rights and franchise agreements for open studios, and retained certain liabilities, including liabilities related to 
known litigation, pre-litigation, and disputes as of the closing of the divestiture. The Company received no consideration from the divestiture of the Row House brand. The 
divestiture allows the Company to better focus and utilize its resources on its other brands. The Company recognized a loss on divestiture of $922, which was included 
within selling, general and administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. The divested brand did not represent a strategic shift that has a 
major effect on the Company's operations and financial results, and, as such, it was not presented as discontinued operations.

 
Wind down of AKT brand franchise operations – During the three months ended September 30, 2024, the Company announced the wind down of AKT franchise 

operations. As part of the wind down, the Company began terminating franchise agreements with existing AKT studios and signed a licensing agreement with a former 
franchisee for no consideration received. As a result of the ongoing wind down of the AKT brand, the Company recognized net charges of $1,136 for impairment of 
intangible assets, inventory write-downs, and other charges during the year ended December 31, 2024. The wind down of the AKT brand did not represent a strategic shift 
that has a major effect on the Company's operations and financial results, and, as such, it was not presented as discontinued operations.

Note 5 – Contract Liabilities and Costs from Contracts with Customers

Contract liabilities – Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue resulting from franchise and area development fees (franchise fees, development fees and 
master franchise fees paid by franchisees), which are recognized over time on a straight-line basis over the franchise agreement term. The Company also receives upfront 
payments from vendors under agreements that give the vendors access to franchisees’ members to provide certain services to the members (“brand fees”). Revenue from the 
upfront payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the agreement term and is reported in other service revenue. Also included in the deferred revenue balance are 
non-refundable prepayments for merchandise and equipment, as well as revenues for training, service revenue and on-demand fees for which the associated products or 
services have not yet been provided to the customer. The Company classifies these contract liabilities as either current deferred revenue or non-current deferred revenue in 
the condensed consolidated balance sheets based on the anticipated timing of delivery. The following table reflects the change in franchise and area development and brand 
fee contract liabilities for the six months ended June 30, 2025. Other deferred revenue amounts of $13,111 are excluded from the table as the original expected duration of 
the contracts is one year or less.
 

  
Franchise and area 
development fees   Brand fees   Total  

Balance at December 31, 2024   115,679    920    116,599 
Revenue recognized that was included in deferred revenue at the beginning of the year   (6,844 )   (299)   (7,143)
Increase, excluding amounts recognized as revenue during the period   1,386    559    1,945 
Balance at June 30, 2025  $ 110,221   $ 1,180  $ 111,401 

(1)Includes revenue recognized as a result of terminations of $1,447 for the six months ended June 30, 2025.

(1)
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The following table illustrates estimated revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that were unsatisfied (or partially 

unsatisfied) as of June 30, 2025. The expected future recognition period for deferred franchise and area development fees related to unopened studios is based on 
management’s best estimate of the beginning of the franchise license term for those studios. The Company elected to not disclose short term contracts, sales and usage-
based royalties, marketing fees and any other variable consideration recognized on an “as invoiced” basis.

Contract liabilities to be recognized in revenue  
Franchise and area 
development fees   Brand fees   Total  

Remainder of 2025  $ 5,097   $ 766   $ 5,863  
2026   10,428    414    10,842  
2027   10,871    —    10,871  
2028   11,713    —    11,713  
2029   11,312    —    11,312  
Thereafter   60,800    —    60,800  
  $ 110,221   $ 1,180   $ 111,401  

 
The following table reflects the components of deferred revenue:

 
  June 30,   December 31,  
  2025   2024  
Franchise and area development fees  $ 110,221   $ 115,679  
Brand fees   1,180    920  
Equipment and other  

 
13,111

 
 

 
15,248

 
Total deferred revenue   124,512    131,847  
Non-current portion of deferred revenue   100,050    105,935  
Current portion of deferred revenue  $ 24,462   $ 25,912  

 
Contract costs – Contract costs consist of deferred commissions resulting from franchise and area development sales by third-party and affiliate brokers and sales 

personnel. The total commission is deferred at the point of a franchise sale. The commissions are evenly split among the number of studios purchased under the 
development agreement and begin to be amortized when a subsequent or initial franchise agreement is executed. The commissions are recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the initial ten-year franchise agreement term to align with the recognition of the franchise agreement or area development fees. The Company classifies these deferred 
contract costs as either current deferred costs or non-current deferred costs in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The associated expense is classified within costs of 
franchise and service revenue in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. At June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, there were approximately $3,899 and 
$3,940 of current deferred commission costs and approximately $37,444 and $39,684 in non-current deferred commission costs, respectively. The Company recognized 
franchise sales commission expense of approximately $1,313 and $2,681 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively, and $3,292 and $6,137 for the three 
and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively.

Note 6 – Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:
 

  June 30,   December 31,  
  2025   2024  
Furniture and equipment  $ 4,046   $ 4,046  
Computers and software   18,368    19,679  
Vehicles   285    285  
Leasehold improvements   7,386    7,344  
Construction in progress   4,114    2,318  
Less: accumulated depreciation   (20,291 )   (19,021 )
Total property and equipment  $ 13,908   $ 14,651  
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Depreciation expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 was $997 and $1,983, respectively, and $1,590 and $3,078 for the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2024, respectively.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company recorded an impairment of $1,470, primarily related to software assets for which the Company 
no longer had established cash flows to support continued recognition of such assets. No impairment of property and equipment was recorded for the six months ended June 
30, 2024. Property and equipment impairment expenses are included within impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets in the Company's condensed consolidated 
statements of operations.

Note 7 – Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired related to the original purchase of the various franchise businesses and 
acquisition of company-owned transition studios. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if indicators of potential impairment 
exist. The carrying value of goodwill at June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, totaled $127,789 and $135,240, respectively. Cumulative goodwill impairment was $55,371 
and $47,920 at June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively. The impairment charges are included within impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets in the 
Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2025, the Company determined it was necessary to re-evaluate goodwill of the BFT and Lindora reporting units for impairment 
due to indicators of potential impairment resulting from a decline in forecasted and actual cash flows. Therefore, the Company performed a quantitative assessment of the 
fair value of the reporting units using an income approach with assumptions that are considered Level 3 inputs and concluded that the carrying value of the BFT and 
Lindora reporting units exceeded their fair values, resulting in a goodwill impairment of $5,105 and $2,346, respectively, and no goodwill remaining for the BFT and 
Lindora reporting units. The fair value of the reporting units were determined by discounting estimated future cash flows, which were calculated based on revenue and 
expense long-term growth assumptions ranging from 9.0% to 22.0%, at a weighted average cost of capital (discount rate) of 19.0% for the BFT reporting unit and revenue 
and expense long-term growth assumptions ranging from 6.0% to 16.0%, at a weighted average cost of capital (discount rate) of 26.0% for the Lindora reporting unit.

The Company also determined that the carrying value of the trademark intangible asset related to the CycleBar reporting unit was in excess of its fair value and 
recognized an impairment loss of $3,449 during the quarter ended June 30, 2025. As this was a partial impairment, the trademark intangible asset, which was $6,200 as of 
June 30, 2025, is considered to be at a heightened risk of future impairment in the event of significant unfavorable changes in assumptions, including forecasted future cash 
flows, as well as discount rates and other macroeconomic factors.

At June 30, 2025, the goodwill related to the Pure Barre reporting unit of $42,548 is at a heightened risk of future impairment if the fair value of the Pure Barre 
reporting unit, and its associated assets, decreases in value due to the amount and timing of expected future cash flows, an inability to execute management’s business 
strategies or general market conditions, such as economic downturns, and changes in interest rates, including discount rates. Future cash flow estimates are, by their nature, 
subjective, and actual results may differ materially from the Company's estimates. If the Company's ongoing cash flow projections are not met or if market factors utilized in 
the impairment test deteriorate, including an unfavorable change in the terminal growth rate or the weighted-average cost of capital, the Company may have to record 
impairment charges in future periods.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2024, the Company determined it was necessary to re-evaluate goodwill of the CycleBar reporting unit for impairment due to 
indicators of potential impairment resulting from a decline in forecasted and actual cash flows. Therefore, the Company performed a quantitative assessment of the fair 
value of the reporting unit using an income approach with assumptions that are considered Level 3 inputs and concluded that the carrying value of the CycleBar reporting 
unit exceeded its fair value, resulting in a goodwill impairment of $10,911 and no goodwill remaining for the CycleBar reporting unit. The fair value of the reporting unit 
was determined by discounting estimated future cash flows, which were calculated based on revenue and expense long-term growth assumptions ranging from (1.0%) to 
3.0%, at a weighted average cost of capital (discount rate) of 16.0%. In addition, the Company determined that the franchise agreements intangible assets related to the 
CycleBar reporting unit were also impaired and recognized an impairment loss of $1,178 in the second quarter of 2024.
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Intangible assets consisted of the following:
 

    June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  

  

Amortization
period
(years)  

Gross
amount   

Accumulated
amortization   

Net
amount   

Gross
amount   

Accumulated
amortization   

Net
amount  

Trademarks  10  $ 23,410  $ (7,998)  $ 15,412  $ 23,410  $ (6,828)  $ 16,582 
Franchise agreements  7.5 – 10   31,800   (24,169)   7,631   31,800   (22,210)   9,590 
Intellectual property  5   670    (201)   469    670    (134)   536  
Web design and domain  3 – 10   413    (385)   28   413    (380)   33 
Deferred video production costs  3   6,904   (5,001)   1,903   6,102   (4,255)   1,847 

Total definite-lived intangible assets     63,197   (37,754)   25,443   62,395   (33,807)   28,588 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:                     
Trademarks  N/A   68,907   —   68,907   72,356   —   72,356 

Total intangible assets    $ 132,104  $ (37,754)  $ 94,350  $ 134,751  $ (33,807)  $ 100,944 
 

Amortization expense was $1,976 and $3,946, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively, and $2,927 and $5,875 for the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2024, respectively.

The anticipated future amortization expense of intangible assets is as follows:
 

  Amount  
Remainder of 2025  $ 3,865 
2026   5,258 
2027   3,667 
2028   3,183 
2029   2,856 
Thereafter   6,614 
Total  $ 25,443 

 

Note 8 – Debt

On April 19, 2021, the Company entered into a Financing Agreement with Wilmington Trust, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and 
the lenders party thereto (the “Credit Agreement”), which consisted of a $212,000 senior secured term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”, and the loans thereunder, 
each a “Term Loan” and, together, the “Term Loans”). The Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by XPO Holdings and certain of the 
Company’s material subsidiaries and are secured by substantially all of the assets of XPO Holdings and certain of the Company’s material subsidiaries.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company is required to make: (i) monthly payments of interest on the Term Loans and (ii) quarterly principal payments equal to 
0.25% of the original principal amount of the Term Loans. Borrowings under the Term Loan Facility bear interest at a per annum rate of, at the Company’s option, either (a) 
the term secured overnight financing rate (“Term SOFR”) plus a Term SOFR Adjustment (as defined in the Credit Agreement per the fifth amendment), plus a margin of 
6.50% or (b) the Reference Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus a margin of 5.50% (10.86% at June 30, 2025).

The Credit Agreement also contains mandatory prepayments of the Term Loans with: (i) 50% of XPO Holdings’ and its subsidiaries’ Excess Cash Flow (as defined 
in the Credit Agreement), subject to certain exceptions; (ii) 100% of the net proceeds of certain asset sales and insurance/condemnation events, subject to reinvestment rights 
and certain other exceptions; (iii) 100% of the net proceeds of certain extraordinary receipts, subject to reinvestment rights and certain other exceptions; (iv) 100% of the net 
proceeds of any incurrence of debt, excluding certain permitted debt issuances; and (v) up to $60,000 of net proceeds in connection with an initial public offering of at least 
$200,000, subject to certain exceptions.
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Unless agreed in advance, all voluntary prepayments and certain mandatory prepayments of the Term Loan made: (i) on or prior to the first anniversary of the 
closing date are subject to a 2.0% premium on the principal amount of such prepayment and (ii) after the first anniversary of the closing date and on or prior to the second 
anniversary of the closing date are subject to a 0.50% premium on the principal amount of such prepayment. Otherwise, the Term Loans may be paid without premium or 
penalty, other than customary breakage costs with respect to Term Loans.

The Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including, among other things: (i) to maintain certain total leverage ratios, liquidity 
levels and EBITDA levels; (ii) to use the proceeds of borrowings only for certain specified purposes; (iii) to refrain from entering into certain agreements outside of the 
ordinary course of business, including with respect to consolidation or mergers; (iv) restricting further indebtedness or liens; (v) restricting certain transactions with 
affiliates; (vi) restricting investments; (vii) restricting prepayments of subordinated indebtedness; (viii) restricting certain payments, including certain payments to affiliates 
or equity holders and distributions to equity holders; and (ix) restricting the issuance of equity. Additionally, on March 10, 2025, the Company obtained a waiver related to 
EBITDA levels as the Credit Agreement did not contain active exceptions for non-recurring legal expenses. The waiver permits the exclusion of certain non-recurring legal 
expenses from the calculation of EBITDA through March 31, 2026. As of June 30, 2025, the Company was in compliance with these covenants.

The Credit Agreement also contains customary events of default, which could result in acceleration of amounts due under the Credit Agreement. Such events of 
default include, subject to the grace periods specified therein, failure to pay principal or interest when due, failure to satisfy or comply with covenants, a change of control, 
the imposition of certain judgments and the invalidation of liens the Company has granted.

On February 13, 2024, the Company entered into a sixth amendment (the “Sixth Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement. The Sixth Amendment provides for, among 
other things, additional term loans in an aggregate principal amount of approximately $38,701, with an original issue discount of $4,059, (the “Sixth Amendment 
Incremental Term Loans”). The original issue discount was paid-in-kind by increasing the principal amount of the Credit Agreement. The proceeds of the Sixth Amendment 
were used to repay an aggregate of $38,701 in existing term loans under the Credit Agreement and for the payment of fees, costs and expenses related to the making of the 
Sixth Amendment Incremental Term Loans. The Sixth Amendment, among other things, also (i) increased the amount of the quarterly principal payments of the loans 
provided pursuant to the Credit Agreement (including the Sixth Amendment Incremental Term Loans) commencing on June 30, 2024 to $1,287, (ii) included a prepayment 
premium on the Sixth Amendment Incremental Term Loans and (iii) extended the maturity date for all outstanding term loans under the Credit Agreement to March 15, 
2026.

In connection with the Sixth Amendment, the Company wrote off a pro rata portion of debt issuance costs related to the Term Loans of $23 and wrote off original 
issue discount of $452 related to the repayment of a portion of the Term Loans, which were included in interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2024.

On August 23, 2024, the Company entered into a seventh amendment (the “Seventh Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement. The Seventh Amendment provides for, 
among other things, (i) additional term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $25,000, with an original issue discount of $750, (the “Seventh Amendment Incremental 
Term Loans”), (ii) an increased amount of the quarterly principal payments of the loans provided pursuant to the Credit Agreement (including the Seventh Amendment 
Incremental Term Loans) commencing on September 30, 2024 to $1,349 and (iii) a prepayment premium on the Seventh Amendment Incremental Term Loans. The 
proceeds of the Seventh Amendment will be used for general corporate purposes, including working capital, lease liabilities, and legal expenses arising from regulatory 
matters.

On March 14, 2025, the Company entered into an eighth amendment (the “Eighth Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement. The Eighth Amendment extends the final 
maturity date under the Credit Agreement to August 1, 2027 (the “Final Maturity Date”) and provides for, among other things, additional term loans in an aggregate 
principal amount of $10,000 (the “Eighth Amendment Incremental Term Loans”), an upfront fee, paid-in-kind, equal to 3% of the (a) aggregate principal amount of term 
loans outstanding as of the amendment date and (b) the Eighth Amendment Incremental Term Loans funded on the funding date, which will be capitalized and added to the 
outstanding loan principal, and an exit fee of approximately $7,248 payable upon the earlier of the Final Maturity Date or the date all loans under the Credit Agreement 
have been repaid or prepaid. The exit fee is treated as additional interest expense and is accreted over the life of the loan using the effective interest method and is presented 
as a reduction to long-term debt in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The Eighth Amendment also increased the amount of the quarterly principal payments of the 
loans provided pursuant to the Credit Agreement (including the Eighth Amendment Incremental Term Loans) commencing on March 31, 2025 to $1,374.
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The Company incurred debt issuance costs of $90 and $269 for the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. Debt issuance cost amortization and 
write off amounted to $37 and $87 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively, and $52 and $124 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, 
respectively. Unamortized debt issuance costs as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, were $301 and $297, respectively, and are presented as a reduction to long-term 
debt in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. Unamortized original issue discount as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, was $13,086 and $4,967, respectively, 
and are presented as a reduction to long-term debt in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. Unamortized exit fees as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, were 
$6,336 and $0, respectively, and are presented as a reduction to long-term debt in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Principal payments on outstanding balances, including exit fee, of long-term debt as of June 30, 2025 were as follows:
 

  Amount  
Remainder of 2025  $ 2,748 
2026   5,497 
2027   369,529 
Total  $ 377,774 

 
The carrying value of the Company’s long-term debt approximated fair value as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, due to the variable interest rate, which is 

a Level 2 input.

Note 9 – Leases

The Company leases office space, company-owned transition studios, warehouse, training centers and a video recording studio. Certain real estate leases include one 
or more options to renew. The Company has guaranteed lease agreements for certain franchisees. See Note 16 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for 
additional information.

Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets from operating leases are subject to the impairment guidance in ASC Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, and are reviewed for 
impairment when indicators of impairment are present. ASC Topic 360 requires three steps to identify, recognize and measure impairment. If indicators of impairment are 
present (Step 1), the Company performs a recoverability test (Step 2) comparing the sum of the estimated undiscounted cash flows attributable to the ROU asset in question 
to the carrying amount. If the undiscounted cash flows used in the recoverability test are less than the carrying amount, the Company estimates the fair value of the ROU 
asset and recognizes an impairment loss when the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value (Step 3). When determining the fair value of the ROU asset, the 
Company estimated what market participants would pay to lease the assets assuming the highest and best use in the assets' current forms. The Company recognized ROU 
asset impairment charges of $558 and $2,473 during the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively. There were no ROU asset impairment charges during the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2024.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases is summarized as follows:
 
Operating leases  Balance Sheet Location  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  
ROU assets, net   Right-of-use assets  $ 20,277  $ 24,036  
Lease liabilities, short-term   Other current liabilities  $ 5,856  $ 5,276  
Lease liabilities, long-term   Lease liability  $ 21,335  $ 23,858  

The following table presents the components of lease expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024:
 
  Three months ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  
Operating lease costs  $ 1,710  $ 3,033  $ 3,681  $ 6,894 
Variable lease costs   250    285    458    458  
Total  $ 1,960  $ 3,318  $ 4,139  $ 7,352 
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The following table presents the supplemental cash flow information related to operating leases during the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024:
 
  Three months ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities  $ 1,453  $ 1,384  $ 3,088  $ 2,887 
Lease liabilities arising from new ROU assets  $ 1,374  $ —  $ 1,374  $ — 

The following table presents other information related to leases:
 
  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  
Weighted average remaining lease term (years)   4.9    4.7  
Weighted average discount rate   9.4 %  8.8 %

 

Maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2025 are summarized as follows:
 

  Amount   
Remainder of 2025  $ 4,638   
2026   7,564   
2027   6,958   
2028   4,743   
2029   3,944   
Thereafter   6,443   
Total future lease payments   34,290   

Less: imputed interest   7,099   
Total  $ 27,191   

 

Note 10 – Related Party Transactions 

In March 2021, the Company funded a note payable under a debt financing obligation in connection with the acquisition of Rumble. The Company earned interest at 
the rate of 11% per annum on the receivable. In connection with the Reorganization Transactions, XPO Inc. recorded $10,600 receivable from shareholder, as the Rumble 
Seller is a shareholder of XPO Inc., for the debt financing provided to the Rumble Seller. In July 2022, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the Rumble 
Sellers to resolve disputes related to the acquisition and related agreements. Under the terms of the settlement, the Company prospectively reduced the interest rate on the 
debt financing provided to the Rumble Sellers from 11% per annum to 7.5% per annum if payment is in cash or 10% per annum if payment is in payment-in-kind and 
extended the maturity date of the debt financing. In 2023 and 2022, the Rumble Sellers borrowed an additional $4,400 and $5,050, respectively, under the debt financing 
agreement which was recorded as receivable from shareholder within equity. The Company recorded $398 and $782 of interest-in-kind during the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2025, respectively, and $360 and $709 during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, which was recorded as interest income and an 
increase to receivable from shareholder within equity.



Xponential Fitness, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

(amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
 

25

In December 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with the former owner of Row House, pursuant to which contingent consideration relating to the 2017 
acquisition of Row House was settled in exchange for the issuance of 105 restricted stock units (“RSUs”), which vest in full on the fourth anniversary of the grant date. As a 
result of the agreement, the Company recorded a reduction to the contingent consideration liability of $1,220 with an offsetting increase in additional paid-in capital and 
reclassified the former owner's outstanding note receivable of $1,834 to additional paid-in capital. In addition, pursuant to the agreement, the Company issued a four-year 
multi-tranche term loan with an option to borrow up to $20 per month in the aggregate principal amount of $960 bearing interest of 8.5% per annum, which was recorded as 
a liability and offsetting reduction in additional paid-in capital. The outstanding receivable from shareholder and the multi-tranche term loan are collateralized by 75 shares 
of Class B common stock held by the former owner, which were reclassified to treasury stock, and by the 105 RSUs. As of June 30, 2025, the former owner of Row House 
borrowed $480, which was recorded as a reduction to liability.

In March 2023, Spartan Fitness Holdings, LLC (“Spartan Fitness”), which currently owns and operates 126 Club Pilates studios, entered into a unit purchase 
agreement with Snapdragon Spartan Investco LP (the “Spartan SPV”), a special purpose vehicle controlled and managed by a member of the Company’s board of directors, 
pursuant to which Spartan SPV agreed to invest in the equity of Spartan Fitness. In addition, the same member of the Company’s board of directors also invested as a 
limited partner in the Spartan SPV. Spartan Fitness intends to use the investment from Spartan SPV to fund the expansion of Club Pilates studios, among other concepts. 
Spartan Fitness also owns the rights to 78 Club Pilates licenses to open additional new units. The Company recorded franchise, equipment and marketing fund revenue 
aggregating $3,386 and $6,499, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively, and $2,345 and $4,449, during the three and six months ended June 30, 
2024, respectively, from studios owned by Spartan Fitness.

The Company previously earned revenues and had accounts receivable from a franchisee comprised of a former member of the Company's senior management 
together with their spouse, a former employee of the Company. The former member of the Company's senior management resigned from the Company effective November 
4, 2024, ending the related party relationship, and the former member’s spouse resigned from the Company on April 4, 2025. Revenues from this affiliate, consisting of 
franchise revenue, marketing fund revenue and merchandise revenue, were $47 and $115 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, and no accounts 
receivable were recorded as of December 31, 2024, for such sales. The Company provided $716 and $955 of studio support to this franchisee during the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2024, respectively. Studio support to this franchisee included, among other things, cash payments, royalty relief, rent assistance, product and 
merchandise, and lease guarantees. The Company provided additional services to this franchisee in the form of assistance from its internal special operations team which 
focuses on improving studio performance, for which the Company does not allocate any amounts to the franchisees for such employee salaries and bonuses.

In May 2024, the Company’s board of directors approved the sale of one of the Company’s vehicles to the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer and board 
member, for $275. The former Chief Executive Officer paid for the vehicle with a $275 reduction of TRA payments and partner distributions owed to him by the Company. 
The Company recognized an $18 gain on sale of asset during the three months ended June 30, 2024, which was included in selling, general and administrative expenses on 
the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Note 11 – Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

On July 23, 2021, the Company issued and sold in a private placement 200 newly issued shares of Series A-1 Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per 
share (the “Convertible Preferred”), for aggregate cash proceeds of $200,000, before deduction for offering costs. Holders of shares of Convertible Preferred are entitled to 
quarterly coupon payments at the rate of 6.50% of the fixed liquidation preference per share, initially $1,000 per share. In the event the quarterly preferential coupon is not 
paid in cash, the fixed liquidation preference automatically increases at the Paid-in-Kind rate of 7.50%. The Convertible Preferred has an initial conversion price equal to 
$14.40 per share, is mandatorily convertible in certain circumstances, and is redeemable at the option of the holder beginning on the date that is eight years from the IPO or 
upon change of control. 

At issuance, the Company assessed the Convertible Preferred for any embedded derivatives. The Company determined that the Convertible Preferred represented an 
equity host under ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging. The Company’s analysis was based on consideration of all stated and implied substantive terms and features of 
the hybrid financial instrument and weighing those terms and features on the basis of the relevant facts and circumstances. Certain embedded features in the Convertible 
Preferred require bifurcation. However, the fair value of such embedded features was immaterial upon issuance and as of June 30, 2025.
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The Convertible Preferred ranks senior to the Company’s common stock with respect to the payment of dividends and distribution of assets upon liquidation, 
dissolution and winding up. It is entitled to receive any dividends or distributions paid in respect of the common stock on an as-converted basis and has no stated maturity 
and will remain outstanding indefinitely unless converted into common stock or repurchased by the Company. Series A preferred stock will vote on an as-converted basis 
with the Class A and Class B common stock and will have certain rights to appoint additional directors, including up to a majority of the Company’s board of directors, 
under certain limited circumstances relating to an event of default or the Company’s failure to repay amounts due to the Convertible Preferred holders upon a redemption. 
Shares of Series A-1 preferred stock are non-voting; however, any shares of Series A-1 preferred stock issued to any of the lenders party to the Credit Agreement will 
convert on a one-to-one basis to shares of Series A preferred stock when permitted under relevant antitrust restrictions.

At any time after July 23, 2029, upon a sale of the Company, or at any time after the occurrence and continuance of an event of default, holders of the Convertible 
Preferred have the right to require the Company to redeem all, but not less than all, of the Preferred shares then outstanding at a redemption price in cash equal to the greater 
of (i) the fair market value per share of Preferred Stock (based on the average volume-weighted average price per share of Class A common stock for the 10 consecutive 
trading day period ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the redemption notice), and (ii) the fixed liquidation preference, plus accrued and 
unpaid dividends. 

The Convertible Preferred is recorded as mezzanine equity (temporary equity) on the condensed consolidated balance sheets because it is not mandatorily 
redeemable but does contain a redemption feature at the option of the Preferred holders that is considered not solely within the Company’s control.

During the three months ended June 30, 2024, the Company elected the paid-in-kind option for the Convertible Preferred quarterly preferential coupon resulting in 
an increase in the fixed liquidation preference of $2,150, which was recorded as a decrease to additional paid-in-capital and was included in the calculation of earnings (loss) 
per share.

At June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company recognized the preferred maximum redemption value of $116,810, which is the maximum redemption value 
on the earliest redemption date based on fair market value per share of Convertible Preferred (based on the average volume-weighted average price per share of Class A 
common stock for the 10 consecutive trading day period ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the redemption notice and 115 outstanding shares 
of Convertible Preferred at June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024). The recording of the preferred maximum redemption value was treated as deemed contribution 
(dividend), which was included in the calculation of earnings (loss) per share and resulted in a net increase (decrease) of $0 and $(6,094) to additional paid-in-capital for the 
six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Note 12 – Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

Common stock – During the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, pursuant to the Amended Limited Liability Company Agreement of XPO Holdings 
(“Amended LLC Agreement”), certain Continuing Pre-IPO LLC Members exchanged their LLC units for 1,001 and 476 shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one 
basis, respectively.

Noncontrolling interests – Following the IPO, XPO Inc. is the sole managing member of XPO LLC and, as a result, consolidates the financial results of XPO LLC. 
The Company reported noncontrolling interests representing the economic interests in XPO LLC held by the Continuing Pre-IPO LLC Members. Under the Amended LLC 
agreement, the Continuing Pre-IPO LLC Members are able to exchange their LLC Units for shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis (simultaneously 
cancelling an equal number of shares of Class B common stock of the exchanging member), or at the option of the Company for cash.

In December 2021, the Company and the Continuing Pre-IPO LLC Members amended the LLC agreement of XPO Holdings, removing the redemption option in 
cash, except to the extent that the cash proceeds to be used to make the redemption in cash are immediately available and were directly raised from a secondary offering of 
the Company's equity securities. Future redemptions or exchanges of LLC Units by the Continuing Pre-IPO LLC Members will result in a change in ownership and reduce 
the amount recorded as noncontrolling interest and increase additional paid-in capital.

During the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company experienced a change in noncontrolling interests ownership due to the conversion of Class B to 
Class A shares and as such, has rebalanced the related noncontrolling interests balance. The Company calculated the rebalancing based on the net assets of XPO LLC, after 
considering the preferred shareholders' claim on the net assets of XPO LLC. The Company used the liquidation value of the preferred shares for such rebalancing.
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The following table summarizes the ownership of XPO LLC as of June 30, 2025:
 

Owner  Units Owned   Ownership percentage  
XPO Inc.   35,082   71.9 %
Noncontrolling interests   13,738   28.1 %
Total   48,820   100.0 %

 

Note 13 – Equity Compensation

Equity classified restricted stock units – The following table summarizes aggregate activity for RSUs for the six months ended June 30, 2025:
 
 

 Shares   

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value per Share  

Outstanding at December 31, 2024   2,137   $ 14.38 
Issued   954   $ 9.86 
Vested   (629 )  $ 15.11 
Forfeited, expired, or canceled   (335 )  $ 14.17 
Outstanding at June 30, 2025   2,127   $ 11.65 

RSUs are valued at the Company’s closing stock price on the date of grant and generally vest over a one- to four-year period. Compensation expense for RSUs is 
recognized on a straight-line basis.

The Company grants performance-based RSUs, which are included in the RSUs described above, to executive officers and other key employees that vests upon the 
achievement of specified market or internal performance goals. The performance-based RSUs are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period 
which is typically three to four years. Management performs a regular assessment to determine the likelihood of meeting the related metrics and adjusts the expense 
recognized if necessary. During the six months ended June 30, 2025, 26 performance-based RSUs were earned and issued and 95 performance based RSUs were forfeited. 
The Company did not grant any performance-based RSUs during the six months ended June 30, 2025.

Stock-based compensation expense – Aggregate stock-based compensation expense recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations was as follows:

 
  Three months ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  
Selling, general and administrative  $ 2,666  $ 4,196  $ 5,947  $ 8,138 
Total stock-based compensation expense, before tax   2,666   4,196   5,947   8,138 
Income tax benefit (expense)   123    (136)   232    — 
Total stock-based compensation expense, after tax  $ 2,543  $ 4,332  $ 5,715  $ 8,138 

Income tax benefit relates to vested RSUs. Due to the Company's full valuation allowance on its net deferred tax assets, there is no income tax benefit on the 
unvested RSUs. At June 30, 2025, the Company had $20,075 of total unamortized compensation expense related to non-vested RSUs. That cost is expected to be recognized 
over a weighted-average period of 2.13 years.
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Note 14 – Income Taxes and Tax Receivable Agreement

Income taxes – The Company is the managing member of XPO Holdings and, as a result, consolidates the financial results of XPO Holdings in the condensed 
consolidated financial statements. XPO Holdings is a pass-through entity for U.S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes following a corporate 
reorganization effected in connection with the IPO. As an entity classified as a partnership for tax purposes, XPO Holdings is not subject to U.S. federal and certain state and 
local income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by XPO Holdings is passed through to and included in the taxable income or loss of its members, including the 
Company. The Company is taxed as a corporation and pays corporate federal, state and local taxes with respect to income allocated from XPO Holdings, based on its 71.9% 
economic interest in XPO Holdings.

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income tax computed by applying the applicable U.S. statutory federal income tax rate of 21% to income 
(loss) before income taxes due to XPO Holdings’ pass-through structure for U.S. income tax purposes, state taxes, preferred stock dividends, non-deductible expenses, 
change in fair value of contingent consideration, impairments which are not currently deductible, and the valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset. The effective 
tax rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, was 18.8% and (154.5%), respectively, and (0.9%) and (0.5%) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024. 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company recognized income tax expense of $312 and $797, respectively, on its share of pre-tax book income 
(loss), exclusive of the noncontrolling interest of 28.1%. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company recognized income tax expense of $132 and 
$85, respectively, on its share of pre-tax book income (loss), exclusive of the noncontrolling interest of 33.3%, respectively.

As of June 30, 2025, management determined based on applicable accounting standards and the weight of all available evidence, it was not more likely than not 
(“MLTN”) that the Company will generate sufficient taxable income to realize its deferred tax assets including the difference in tax basis in excess of the financial reporting 
value for its investment in XPO Holdings. Consequently, the Company has established a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets as of June 30, 2025. In the 
event that management subsequently determines that it is MLTN that the Company will realize its deferred tax assets in the future over the recorded amount, a decrease to 
the valuation allowance will be made, which will reduce the provision for income taxes.

The Company is subject to taxation and files income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction and many state and foreign jurisdictions. XPO Holdings 
recently received an IRS audit letter for tax year 2023. As the audit has just commenced, the Company is currently not aware of any adjustments. The Company is not 
currently under examination by income tax authorities in state or other jurisdictions. The Company’s tax returns remain open for examination in the U.S. for years 2020 
through 2024. The Company's foreign subsidiaries are generally subject to examination four years following the year in which the tax obligation originated. The years 
subject to audit may be extended if the entity substantially understates corporate income tax.

The Company does not expect a significant change in unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12 months.

On July 4, 2025, new U.S. tax legislation was signed into law, which enacts significant changes to U.S. tax and related laws, including immediate expensing of 
certain capital expenditures and favorable impacts to the business interest expense limitation. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the new tax law will have on 
its financial condition and results of operations. Preliminarily, the Company does not anticipate a material change to its effective income tax rate and its net deferred income 
tax assets, as the Company maintains a full valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets of XPO Inc. The impact of the tax law changes will be included in the Company’s 
financial statements beginning in the three months ending September 30, 2025.

Tax receivable agreement – In connection with the IPO, the Company entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”) pursuant to which the Company is 
generally required to pay to the other parties thereto in the aggregate 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax or franchise tax 
that the Company actually realizes as a result of (i) certain favorable tax attributes acquired from H&W Investco Blocker II, LP (the “Blocker Company”) in the merger of 
the Blocker Company with and into XPO Inc. (including net operating losses and the Blocker Company’s allocable share of existing tax basis); (ii) increases in the 
Company's allocable share of existing tax basis and tax basis adjustments that resulted or may result from (x) the IPO Contribution and the Class A-5 Unit Redemption, (y) 
future taxable redemptions and exchanges of LLC Units by Continuing Pre-IPO LLC Members and (z) certain payments made under the TRA; and (iii) deductions 
attributable to imputed interest pursuant to the TRA (the “TRA Payments”). The Company expects to benefit from the remaining 15% of any tax benefits that it may actually 
realize. The TRA Payments are not conditioned upon any continued ownership interest in XPO Holdings or the Company. To the extent that the Company is unable to 
timely make payments under the TRA for any reason, such payments generally will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid.
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The timing and amount of aggregate payments due under the TRA may vary based on a number of factors, including the amount and timing of the taxable income 
the Company generates each year and the tax rate then applicable. The Company calculates the liability under the TRA using a complex TRA model, which includes an 
assumption related to the fair market value of assets. The payment obligations under the TRA are obligations of XPO Inc. and not of XPO Holdings. Payments are generally 
due under the TRA within a specified period of time following the filing of the Company’s tax return for the taxable year with respect to which the payment obligation 
arises, although interest on such payments will begin to accrue at a rate of LIBOR (or a replacement rate) plus 100 basis points from the due date (without extensions) of 
such tax return.

The TRA provides that if (i) there is a material breach of any material obligations under the TRA; or (ii) the Company elects an early termination of the TRA, then 
the TRA will terminate and the Company's obligations, or the Company's successor’s obligations, under the TRA will accelerate and become due and payable, based on 
certain assumptions, including an assumption that the Company would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize all potential future tax benefits that are subject to the 
TRA and that any LLC Units that have not been exchanged are deemed exchanged for the fair market value of the Company's Class A common stock at the time of 
termination. The TRA also provides that, upon certain mergers, asset sales or other forms of business combination, or certain other changes of control, the TRA will not 
terminate but the Company’s or the Company’s successor’s obligations with respect to tax benefits would be based on certain assumptions, including that the Company or 
the Company’s successor would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other benefits covered by the TRA.

As of June 30, 2025, the Company has concluded, based on applicable accounting standards, that it was more likely than not that its deferred tax assets subject to 
the TRA would not be realized. Therefore, the Company has not recorded a liability related to the tax savings it may realize from utilization of such deferred tax assets. 
Except for $11 and $1,975 of the current and non-current portions of the TRA, respectively, $86,878 of the TRA liability was not recorded as of June 30, 2025. If utilization 
of the deferred tax asset subject to the TRA becomes more likely than not in the future, the Company will record a liability related to the TRA which will be recognized as 
expense within its consolidated statements of operations.

Note 15 – Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share has been calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to Class A common stockholders by the weighted average number of 
shares of Class A common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock has been computed by dividing net income (loss) 
attributable to XPO Inc. by the weighted average number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding adjusted to give effect to potentially dilutive securities.

Because a portion of XPO Holdings is owned by parties other than the Company, those parties participate in earnings and losses at the XPO Holdings level. 
Additionally, given the organizational structure of XPO Inc., a parallel capital structure exists at XPO Holdings such that the shares of XPO Holdings are redeemable on a 
one-to-one basis with the XPO Inc. shares. In order to maintain the one-to-one ratio, the preferred stock issued at the XPO Inc. level also exists at the XPO Holdings level. 
The Company applies the two-class method to allocate undistributed earnings or losses of XPO Holdings, and in doing so, determines the portion of XPO Holdings’ income 
or loss that is attributable to the Company and accordingly reflected in income or loss available to common stockholders in the Company’s calculation of basic earnings 
(loss) per share.

Due to the attribution of only a portion of the preferred stock dividends issued by XPO Holdings to the Company in first determining basic earnings (loss) per share 
at the subsidiary level, the amounts presented as net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests and net income (loss) attributable to XPO Inc. presented below will 
not agree to the amounts presented on the condensed consolidated statement of operations.

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders adjusts the basic earnings or losses per share attributable to common stockholders and the 
weighted average number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding to give effect to potentially dilutive securities. The potential dilutive impact of redeemable 
Convertible Preferred shares and Class B common stock is evaluated using the as-if-converted method. Weighted average shares of Class B common stock were 13,664 and 
14,062 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively, and 16,244 and 16,356 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively. The 
potentially dilutive impact of RSUs is calculated using the treasury stock method. Because the Company reported net losses for the periods presented, all potentially dilutive 
common stock equivalents are antidilutive and have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share.
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The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share of Class A common stock:

  Three months ended June 30,   Six months ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  
Numerator:             
Net income (loss) attributable to XPO Inc. - diluted  $ 1,346  $ (14,343)  $ (1,313)  $ (18,093)
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests   156    4,827   1,460   9,547 
Less: dividends on preferred shares   (1,898)   (2,150)   (3,796)   (4,013)
Less: deemed contribution (dividend)   —   2,012   —   (6,094)

Net loss attributable to XPO Inc. - basic and diluted   (396)   (9,654)   (3,649)   (18,653)
Denominator:             
Weighted average shares of Class A common stock outstanding - basic and diluted   34,972   31,806   34,444   31,465 
             
Net loss per share attributable to Class A common stock - basic  $ (0.01)  $ (0.30)  $ (0.11)  $ (0.59)
Net loss per share attributable to Class A common stock - diluted  $ (0.01)  $ (0.30)  $ (0.11)  $ (0.59)
             
Anti-dilutive shares excluded from diluted loss per share of Class A common stock:             
Restricted stock units   1,850   2,263   1,850   2,263 
Conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock   13,663   16,016   13,663   16,016 
Convertible preferred stock   8,112   8,112   8,112   8,112 
Treasury share options   75   75   75   75 
Rumble contingent shares   2,024   2,024   2,024   2,024 
Profits interests, time vesting   —   1    —   1  

 

Note 16 – Contingencies and Litigation

Litigation – The Company has in the past been, is currently and expects to continue in the future to be a party to or involved in pre-litigation disputes, individual 
actions, putative class actions or other collective actions, U.S. and state government regulatory inquiries and investigations and various other legal proceedings arising in the 
normal course of its business, including with former or current employees, customers, franchisees, vendors, landlords or others. The Company intends to defend itself in any 
such matters. The Company believes that the ultimate determination of liability in connection with legal claims pending against it, if any, will not have a material adverse 
effect on its business, annual results of operations, liquidity or financial position, except for those matters discussed below. However, it is possible that the Company’s 
business, results of operations, liquidity or financial condition could be materially affected in a particular future reporting period by the unfavorable resolution of one or 
more matters or contingencies during such period.

As of the end of each applicable reporting period, the Company reviews each of its legal proceedings and, where it is probable that a liability has been incurred, the 
Company accrues for all probable and reasonably estimable losses. The Company accrued for estimated legal liabilities, where appropriate, or settlement agreements to 
resolve legal disputes and recorded an aggregate accrual of $29,952, and $14,717, which is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the condensed 
consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively.
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The Company maintains insurance coverage which may cover certain losses and legal costs incurred. When losses exceed the applicable policy deductible and 
realization of recovery of the loss from existing insurance policies is deemed probable, the Company records receivables from the insurance company for the excess amount. 
The Company recorded an insurance receivable of $15,000, which was included in accounts receivable, net, in the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 
2025. Additionally, during the six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company received proceeds of $14,750 in connection with its claims for insurance reimbursement for 
previous legal expenses. Both the insurance receivable as of June 30, 2025 and the cash proceeds received during the six months ended June 30, 2025 were recognized 
within selling, general and administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2025. Various factors could 
affect the timing and amount of recovery and it is reasonably possible that the Company will need to adjust the estimate for insurance receivable or receive additional 
proceeds, exceeding our current estimated insurance receivable, based on new or additional information. These changes could be material to the operating results and 
financial position of the Company for the period in which the adjustments to the receivable are recorded or additional proceeds are received.

On November 22, 2023, former employees of a former franchisee of the Company filed a putative class action complaint in the United States District Court for the 
Southern District of Ohio, captioned Shannon McGill et al. v. Xponential Fitness LLC, et al., Case No. 2:23-cv-03909, against the Company, as well as against a former 
franchisee of the Company and the franchisee’s legal entity, MD Pro Fitness, LLC. The complaint alleges violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act, as well as employment 
laws from different states in connection with the franchisee’s owner-operated studio locations. The Company was served with the complaint on December 4, 2023. On April 
4, 2025, the parties executed a settlement agreement and filed a motion seeking court approval of the settlement. By order dated June 18, 2025 (the “Order”), the court 
enumerated requisite changes to the settlement structure, and the parties are working to comply with the Order. The Company recorded an accrual in anticipation of this 
settlement, which is included in accrued expenses in the condensed consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2025.

On February 9, 2024, a federal securities class action lawsuit was filed against the Company and certain of the Company’s officers in the United States District 
Court for the Central District of California. The complaint alleged, among other things, violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 
promulgated thereunder, regarding misstatements and/or omissions in certain of the Company’s financial statements, press releases, and SEC filings made during the 
putative class period of July 26, 2021 through December 7, 2023. On July 26, 2024, plaintiffs filed an amended complaint, adding three Company directors as defendants, 
as well as the underwriters from the Company’s April 6, 2022 secondary offering, additionally bringing claims under Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Act, and 
alleging a putative class period of July 23, 2021 through May 10, 2024. The Company filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint on October 8, 2024. On December 
6, 2024, plaintiffs filed their opposition to the motion to dismiss and also filed a motion to supplement the amended complaint, attaching a proposed supplemental complaint. 
On February 18, 2025, the Court granted plaintiffs’ motion to supplement, denying defendants’ pending motion to dismiss as moot. On February 28, 2025, plaintiffs filed 
the supplemental complaint. On April 15, 2025, Defendants filed their motion to dismiss the supplemental complaint. Instead of opposing Defendants’ motion to dismiss, on 
May 6, 2025, plaintiffs filed an amended consolidated complaint, which, among other things, adds three new entity defendants to the claim under Section 20(a) of the 
Exchange Act. The Company filed a motion to dismiss the amended consolidated complaint on July 1, 2025 that is scheduled for hearing on November 14, 2025, as of the 
date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The litigation is preliminary in nature and involves substantial uncertainties, and the Company believes that a loss is not 
probable or estimable at this time. However, there can be no assurance that such legal proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows.
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On March 10, 2024, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of California by Gideon Akande, allegedly 
on behalf of Xponential Fitness, Inc., against certain current officers and directors as defendants, and Xponential Fitness, Inc., as nominal defendant, for alleged wrongdoing 
committed by the individual defendants from July 26, 2021 to December 7, 2023. Plaintiff alleges claims for breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, gross 
mismanagement, abuse of control, waste of corporate assets, violations of Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, violations of Sections 20(a) and 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the 
Exchange Act, and against Messrs. Geisler and Meloun for contribution or indemnification under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Exchange Act. Plaintiffs seek, inter alia, 
damages with pre- and post-judgment interest, and an order directing the Company and the individual defendants to improve the Company’s corporate governance, and 
restitution by the individual defendants. On April 3, 2024, the court entered an Order granting the parties’ Joint Stipulation to Stay Proceedings, which stayed the 
proceeding pending final resolution of the securities class action. On May 10, 2024, a second derivative lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Central 
District of California by Patrick Ayers, purportedly on behalf of Xponential Fitness, Inc., alleging similar claims as the Akande action. On June 24, 2024, the Court stayed 
the Ayers action pending resolution of the securities class action and consolidated the proceedings with the Gideon Akande derivative lawsuit. On February 10, 2025, a third 
derivative lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of California by Stefanie Nelson, purportedly on behalf of Xponential Fitness, Inc., 
alleging similar claims as the consolidated Akande and Ayers action. On March 31, 2025, the Court consolidated the Nelson action with the previously consolidated Akande 
and Ayers action. On July 21, 2025, the Company received a shareholder demand making allegations similar to those made by Ayers, Akande and Nelson. The litigation is 
preliminary in nature and involves substantial uncertainties and the Company believes that a loss is not probable or estimable at this time. However, there can be no 
assurance that such legal proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows.

On November 2, 2023, the Company received a letter from plaintiffs’ counsel purporting to represent unspecified current and former franchisees requesting 
settlement discussions. On July 31, 2024, plaintiffs’ counsel provided the Company with a list of approximately 250 current and former franchisees, certain of which 
franchisees consist of more than one individual, that it claimed to represent in this matter. The franchisees allege they were aggrieved by purported misstatements and 
omissions by the Company or an affiliate thereof. On January 7, 2025, plaintiffs added 50 additional current and former franchisees to their prior list. On April 22, 2025, as 
a result of mediation, the parties agreed in principle to settle this matter, on behalf of a class of all non-opt-out franchisees for $25,000. The settlement is subject to entry into 
a definitive settlement agreement and court approval and will be paid in installments, with 50% payable upon court approval and the remaining 50% payable in three equal 
installments, with the first payment due one year after settlement approval. The Company recorded an accrual in anticipation of this settlement, which is included in the 
Company’s aggregate accrual discussed above.

On February 21, 2025, the Company received a complaint on behalf of a putative nationwide class alleging violations of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act. 
The matter was settled on June 24, 2025 for $18.

Government investigations – On December 5, 2023, the Company was contacted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), requesting that the 
Company provide it with certain information and documents. The Company received notice on May 7, 2024 of an investigation by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Central 
District of California (the “USAO”). On July 29, 2024, the Company received a civil investigative demand from the United States Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”). 
On December 12, 2024, the Company received a subpoena from the Office of the Attorney General of the State of New York (the “NYAG”). On July 1, 2025, the SEC 
informed the Company that it had concluded its investigation without action. The Company intends to cooperate fully with the USAO, FTC, and NYAG in these 
investigations, and the Company has incurred, and may continue to incur, significant expenses related to legal and other professional services in connection with matters 
relating to or arising from these investigations. At this stage, the Company is unable to assess whether any material loss or adverse effect is reasonably possible as a result of 
these investigations or estimate the range of any potential loss.

Other regulatory matters – On April 10, 2023, the Company received notice of an investigation from the Commissioner of California’s Department of Financial 
Protection and Innovation (“DFPI”) related to the Company's compliance with California’s Franchise Investment Law. On November 4, 2024, without admission of 
wrongdoing, the Company entered into a Consent Order with the DFPI to resolve the matter. As part of the Consent Order, the Company paid an administrative penalty of 
$450, agreed to desist and refrain from any violations of the California Franchise Investment Law, agreed to various compliance training, and agreed to include a summary 
of the Consent Order in Item 3 of the Franchise Disclosure Documents.

In addition, the Office of the Attorney General of the State of New York, the Office of the Attorney General of the State of Maryland, the Washington Department of 
Financial Institutions, and the Virginia Division of Securities and Retail Franchising are investigating the Company’s compliance with applicable franchise laws.
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Contingent consideration from acquisitions – In connection with the Reorganization Transactions, the Parent merged with and into the Member. The Company 
recorded contingent consideration equal to the fair value of the shares issued in connection with the Rumble acquisition of $23,100 and a $10,600 receivable from 
shareholder for debt financing provided to the Rumble Seller. The shares issued to the Rumble Seller are treated as a liability on the Company's balance sheet as they are 
subject to vesting conditions. The fair value of the contingent consideration is measured at estimated fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation analysis, which represents a 
Level 3 measurement. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company recorded an increase (decrease) of $(1,914) and $(10,575) to contingent 
consideration, respectively, which was recorded as acquisition and transaction expense (income). During the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 the Company 
recorded an increase (decrease) of $(1,205) and $3,245 to contingent consideration, respectively, which was recorded as acquisition and transaction expense (income). At 
June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, contingent consideration of $6,730 and $17,305 was recorded as contingent consideration from acquisitions in the condensed 
consolidated balance sheets, respectively.

In connection with the October 2021 acquisition of BFT, the Company agreed to pay contingent consideration to the Seller consisting of quarterly cash payments 
based on the sales of the franchise system and equipment packages in the U.S. and Canada, as well as a percentage of royalties collected by the Company, provided that 
aggregate minimum payments of $5,000 AUD (approximately $3,694 USD based on the currency exchange rate as of the purchase date) are required to be paid to the Seller 
for the two-year period ended December 31, 2023. The aggregate amount of such payments is subject to a maximum of $14,000 AUD (approximately $10,342 USD based 
on the currency exchange rate as of the purchase date). At the acquisition date, the Company determined that the fair value of the estimated contingent consideration liability 
was $9,388. The Company recorded a change to contingent consideration of $0 and $2 during the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively, and $36 and $77 
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, which was recorded as interest expense. The Company recorded additional contingent consideration of 
$0 and $6 during the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively, and $(285) and $(648) during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, 
which was recorded as acquisition and transaction expense (income). In addition, the Company paid contingent consideration of $0 during the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2025 and 2024. At June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, contingent consideration was $132 and $124 recorded as accrued expenses, respectively, in the 
condensed consolidated balance sheets.

In connection with the January 2024 acquisition of Lindora, the Company agreed to pay contingent consideration to the seller subject to the achievement of certain 
milestones. Payment of additional consideration is contingent on Lindora reaching two milestones based on a certain gross sales target and the number of operating clinics 
during the 15-month and 24-month period following the acquisition date, respectively. At the acquisition date, the Company determined that the fair value of the estimated 
contingent consideration liability was $446. The Company recorded additional contingent consideration of $15 and $46 during the three and six months ended June 30, 
2025, respectively, and $17 and $34 during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, which was recorded as interest expense. The Company recorded a 
change to contingent consideration of $(1) and $16 during the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively, and $173 during the three and six months ended June 
30, 2024, respectively, which was recorded as acquisition and transaction expense (income). In addition, the Company paid contingent consideration of $500 during the six 
months ended June 30, 2025, and $0 during the six months ended June 30, 2024. At June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, contingent consideration was $443 and $457 
recorded as accrued expenses, respectively, and $0 and $424 recorded as contingent consideration from acquisitions, respectively, in the condensed consolidated balance 
sheets.

Letter of credit – In July 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with a third-party financing company, who provides loans to the Company's qualified 
franchisees, pursuant to which the Company serves as guarantor for such loans. In addition, the Company issued a $750 standby letter of credit in connection therewith, 
which represents a portion of the Company’s potential aggregate liability under the guaranty. The standby letter of credit is contingent upon the failure of franchisees to 
perform according to the terms of underlying contracts with the third party. The Company deposited cash in a restricted account as collateral for the standby letter of credit. 
The Company has determined the fair value of these guarantees at inception was not material, and as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, a $651 and $150 accrual has 
been recorded for the Company’s potential obligation under its guaranty arrangement, respectively, which is included in accrued expenses in the condensed consolidated 
balance sheets.

Lease guarantees – The Company has guaranteed lease agreements for certain franchisees. The Company’s potential obligation, as a result of its guarantees of 
leases, is approximately $2,173 and $3,617 as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively, and would only require payment upon default by the primary obligor. 
The Company has determined the fair value of these guarantees at inception is not material, and as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, a $1,175 and $2,034 accrual 
has been recorded for the Company’s potential obligation under its guaranty arrangement, respectively.
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Note 17 – Restructuring

In the third quarter of 2023, the Company began a restructuring plan that involves exiting company-owned transition studios and other measures designed to reduce 
costs to achieve the Company’s long-term margin goals and focus on pure franchise operations. The plan was approved and initiated in the third quarter of 2023 and is 
expected to continue throughout 2025; however, the ultimate timing of the completion of the restructuring plan will depend on lease termination negotiations. During the 
fourth quarter of 2023 the Company's restructuring plan was expanded due to the addition of Rumble company-owned transition studios to the restructuring plan and a 
refranchising plan that was terminated by the Company due to the refranchisor’s non-compliance with the franchise agreements and the subsequent closure of certain 
studios. This refranchise termination resulted in the Company incurring losses for contract termination expenses, other expenses associated with exiting the studios, and loss 
contingencies related to the refranchisor’s unpaid payroll. The Company expects to recognize additional restructuring charges throughout 2025 totaling between 
approximately $13,100 to $16,800 for rent expense, including amortization of the right-of-use assets and accretion of the operating lease liability, lease termination gains or 
losses, and other variable lease costs related to company-owned transition studios and other restructuring charges. The Company is negotiating lease terminations for 
operating leases for certain studios for which the Company has lease liabilities recorded and the expected cash payments and expenses to exit the lease may be greater than 
expected rent expense for that period, depending on the outcome of lease termination negotiations.

The components of the restructuring charges were as follows:

  Three months ended June 30,   Six months ended June 30,
  2025   2024   2025   2024   
Impairment and accelerated amortization of right-of-use assets  $ 558   $ —  $ 2,473  $ —  
Contract termination and other associated costs   305    83   633    605   
Loss on lease terminations and sale or disposal of assets, net   603    421    426    4,437  
Other restructuring costs   61   1,806   397    4,022  
Total restructuring charges, net  $ 1,527  $ 2,310  $ 3,929  $ 9,064  

 

(1)Loss on lease termination and sale or disposal of assets represents net losses on studio lease terminations and sales or disposal of studio assets primarily related to 
studio property and equipment. Amount for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 is net of, among other things, a $694 gain on lease termination related to a 
lease for which the Company had previously recognized an impairment on the related right-of-use asset. Amount for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 is 
net of, among other things, a $421 and $4,057 gain, respectively, on lease termination related to a lease for which the Company had recognized accelerated right-of-
use asset amortization.

The restructuring charges are recorded within the following financial statement captions on the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations:

  Three months ended June 30,   Six months ended June 30,
  2025   2024   2025   2024   
Costs of product revenue  $ —  $ 17  $ —  $ 113   
Selling, general and administrative expenses   969    2,293   1,456   8,951  
Impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets   558    —   2,473   —  
Total restructuring charges, net  $ 1,527  $ 2,310  $ 3,929  $ 9,064  

The following table provides the components of and changes in the Company’s restructuring charges, included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the 
condensed consolidated balance sheets:

    
Balance at December 31, 2024  $ 5,235  
Charges incurred   2,149  
Payments   (4,345 )
Balance at June 30, 2025  $ 3,039  

 

(1)
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Note 18 – Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is available and that is regularly reviewed by the Chief 
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer is the Company’s CODM. The CODM reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making 
operating decisions, allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. As such, the Company has determined that it operates in one reportable and operating 
segment. The Company’s reportable segment is the Company’s franchise business of its health and wellness brands which require similar technology and operating 
strategies. The CODM evaluates the operating results through consolidated net income (loss). The CODM uses consolidated net income (loss) predominantly in the annual 
budget and forecasting process and to monitor budget-to-actual variances on a monthly basis in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

The Company generated $2,731 and $5,348 of revenue outside of the United States during the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively, and $3,502 
and $7,090 during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively. Revenue generated outside of the United States is primarily from franchise development fees 
and franchise royalty fees earned from master franchisees. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company did not have material assets located outside of the United States.

The following table presents the financial information for the Company’s one reportable and operating segment:

 Three Months Ended June 30,   Six months ended June 30,   
  2025   2024   2025   2024   
Total revenue, net  $ 76,208   $ 76,903   $ 153,091   $ 156,596   
Less:            
Costs of product revenue   10,505    13,933    22,477    28,499   
Costs of franchise and service revenue   3,955    5,834    8,052    10,881   
Marketing and promotion   1,205    2,091    2,566    4,224   
Salary and wages   10,555    11,040    22,027    22,239   
Professional services (including legal and accounting)   1,841    9,429    24,671    15,186   
Rent and occupancy   1,642    3,030    3,279    8,187   
Marketing fund expense   8,855    7,847    18,212    14,362   
Acquisition and transaction expenses (income)   (1,915 )   (1,217 )   (10,553 )   3,298   
Other segment items   7,066    7,456    13,114    16,497   
Equity-based compensation   2,666    4,196    5,947    8,138   
Depreciation and amortization   2,973    4,517    5,929    8,953   
Impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets   12,928    12,089    14,843    12,089   
Interest income   (701 )   (387 )   (1,320 )   (750 )  
Interest expense   12,975    11,256    24,363    22,801   
Income taxes   312    132    797    85   

Segment net income (loss)  $ 1,346   $ (14,343 )  $ (1,313 )  $ (18,093 )  

(1)Other segment items include restructuring expenses of $907 and $1,058 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively, and $487 and $4,930 for the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively. Other segment items also include travel expenses, insurance expense, TRA expense, and other selling, general 
and administrative expenses.

 

(1)
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Note 19 – Subsequent events

Retail supply agreement

On July 3, 2025, the Company and Fit Commerce, a California Corporation (“FC”), entered into a Retail Supply Agreement (the “Agreement”) to be effective as of 
December 1, 2025 (the “Effective Date”). All capitalized terms in this “retail supply agreement” section not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to 
them in the Agreement. The Agreement relates to the outsourcing of the Company’s retail merchandising, including the manufacturing and distribution, of any retail item 
sold by a franchisee, subject to terms and conditions outlined in the Agreement. In addition, FC has agreed to purchase the Company’s existing retail inventory, subject to 
certain exceptions, no later than the Effective Date of the Agreement. This strategic initiative shifts management of the franchisee retail experience from our in-house teams 
to a dedicated e-commerce provider, allowing us to focus on core business priorities.

Pursuant to the Agreement, FC will pay to the Company domestic and foreign commissions as well as direct-to-customer commissions (each, a “Commission” and 
collectively, “Commissions”) in connection with the sale of Products to the Company or its franchisees. The domestic Commissions will be paid by FC to the Company 
based on each Contract Year (prorated for any partial Contract Year) in a minimum aggregate amount of $50,000 over the five-year period subject to certain adjustments 
provided in the Agreement.

Additionally, pursuant to the Agreement, FC is required to have a minimum amount of equity at its inception, including an amount in asset-based lending credit 
facilities and in inventory financing from FC’s vendors (collectively, the “Capital”). If such Capital is not fully funded by October 31, 2025, the Agreement will be null and 
void with no further obligation between the parties except those stated in the prior and underlying agreements.

Rumble and CycleBar divestiture

On July 24, 2025, the Company entered into an agreement with a buyer, pursuant to which the Company divested the CycleBar and Rumble brands, including the 
intellectual property, franchise rights and franchise agreements for open studios, and retained certain liabilities, including liabilities related to known litigation, pre-
litigation, and disputes as of the closing of the divestiture. The Company will receive total consideration of $7,000, including an initial cash payment of $2,000 and a final 
payment of $5,000 due within 60 days from the divestiture of the CycleBar and Rumble brands. The Company has not yet finalized its accounting for the transaction. The 
divestiture allows the Company to better focus and utilize its resources on its core brands and other opportunities which better align with its long-term strategies.

Appointment of new Chief Executive Officer and Director

 On August 7, 2025, the Company announced that its board of directors had unanimously appointed Mr. Mike Nuzzo as Chief Executive Officer effective August 7, 
2025. Mr. Nuzzo also joined the Company’s board of directors. Mr. Nuzzo succeeds Mark King, who chose to retire from his position as Chief Executive Officer and as a 
member of the Company’s board of directors, also effective August 7, 2025. On July 30, 2025, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Nuzzo in 
connection with his appointment as Chief Executive Officer, to be effective as of August 7, 2025.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such forward-looking statements reflect, among other things, our current expectations and anticipated results of 
operations, all of which are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements, market 
trends, or industry results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Therefore, any statements contained herein that are not 
statements of historical fact may be forward-looking statements and should be evaluated as such. Without limiting the foregoing, the words “anticipates,” “believes,” 
“estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “projects,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “will,” “likely” and the negative thereof and similar words and expressions 
are intended to identify forward-looking statements. The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction 
with our condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto and the other financial information included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024. Our actual results and timing may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed below and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, particularly in the section titled 
“Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations” and “Risk Factors” and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis gives effect to the correction of the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2024, as more fully described in Note 2 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Overview

Xponential Fitness LLC (“XPO LLC”), the principal operating subsidiary of Xponential Fitness, Inc. ( “XPO Inc.”), and together with its subsidiaries, ( the 
“Company” or “we,” “us,” and “our”), is one of the leading global franchisors of boutique health and wellness brands. Pursuant to a reorganization into a holding company 
structure, the Company is a holding company with its principal asset being a 71.9% ownership interest in XPO LLC through its ownership interest in Xponential Intermediate 
Holdings, LLC (“XPO Holdings”).

We operate a diversified platform of eight brands spanning across verticals including Pilates, indoor cycling, barre, stretching, boxing, functional training, metabolic 
health and yoga. In partnership with its franchisees and master franchisees, XPO LLC offers energetic, accessible, and personalized workout experiences led by highly 
qualified instructors in studio locations throughout North America and internationally, with franchise, master franchise and international expansion agreements in 49 U.S. 
states, Puerto Rico and 30 additional countries as of June 30, 2025. The Company's portfolio of brands includes Club Pilates, the largest Pilates brand in the United States; 
CycleBar, the largest indoor cycling brand in the United States; StretchLab, a concept offering one-on-one and group stretching services; YogaSix, the largest franchised yoga 
brand in the United States; Pure Barre, a total body workout that uses the ballet barre to perform small isometric movements, and the largest barre brand in the United States; 
Rumble, a boxing-inspired full-body workout; BFT, a functional training and strength-based program; and Lindora, a provider of medically guided wellness and metabolic 
health solutions.

As of June 30, 2025, 2,823 studios were open in North America (consists of Canada, the United States and U.S. Territories) and franchisees were contractually 
committed to open 1,461 additional studios under existing franchise agreements. In addition, as of June 30, 2025, we had 504 studios open internationally and our master 
franchisees were contractually obligated to sell licenses to franchisees to open an additional 1,013 new studios, of which master franchisees have sold 246 licenses for studios 
not yet opened as of June 30, 2025.

During the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, we generated revenue outside the United States of $5.3 million and $7.1 million, respectively. As of June 30, 
2025 and December 31, 2024, we did not have material assets located outside of the United States. No franchisee accounted for more than 5% of our revenue. We operate in 
one segment for financial reporting purposes.
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Recent Developments

Appointment of new Chief Executive Officer and Director

On August 7, 2025, we announced that our board of directors had unanimously appointed Mr. Mike Nuzzo as Chief Executive Officer effective August 7, 2025. Mr. 
Nuzzo also joined our board of directors. Mr. Nuzzo succeeds Mark King, who chose to retire from his position as Chief Executive Officer and as a member of our board of 
directors, also effective August 7, 2025. On July 30, 2025, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Nuzzo in connection with his appointment as Chief Executive 
Officer, to be effective as of August 7, 2025. Mr. Nuzzo brings more than 25 years of executive leadership in the retail and consumer services sectors across strategic, 
operational, financial, and growth-focused disciplines.

Rumble and CycleBar divestiture

On July 24, 2025, we entered into an agreement with a buyer to divest the CycleBar and Rumble brands, including the intellectual property, franchise rights and 
franchise agreements for open studios, and retained certain liabilities, including liabilities related to known litigation, pre-litigation, and disputes as of the closing of the 
divestiture. We will receive total consideration of $7.0 million, including an initial cash payment of $2.0 million and a final payment of $5.0 million due within 60 days from 
the divestiture of the CycleBar and Rumble brands. We believe the divestiture allows us to better focus and utilize our resources on our core brands and other opportunities 
which better align with our long-term strategies.

Retail supply agreement

On July 3, 2025, we and Fit Commerce, a California Corporation (“FC”), entered into a Retail Supply Agreement (the “Agreement”) to be effective as of December 1, 
2025 (the “Effective Date”). All capitalized terms in this “retail supply agreement” section not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the 
Agreement. The Agreement relates to the outsourcing of our retail merchandising, including the manufacturing and distribution, of any retail item sold by a franchisee, subject 
to terms and conditions outlined in the Agreement. In addition, FC has agreed to purchase the Company’s existing retail inventory, subject to certain exceptions, no later than 
the Effective Date of the Agreement. This strategic initiative shifts management of the franchisee retail experience from our in-house teams to a dedicated e-commerce 
provider, allowing us to focus on core business priorities.

Pursuant to the Agreement, FC will pay us domestic and foreign commissions as well as direct-to-customer commissions (each, a “Commission” and collectively, 
“Commissions”) in connection with the sale of Products to us or our franchisees. The domestic Commissions will be paid by FC to us based on each Contract Year (prorated 
for any partial Contract Year) in a minimum aggregate amount of $50 million over the five-year period subject to certain adjustments provided in the Agreement.

Additionally, pursuant to the Agreement, FC is required to have a minimum amount of equity at its inception, including an amount in asset-based lending credit 
facilities and in inventory financing from FC’s vendors (collectively, the “Capital”). If such Capital is not fully funded by October 31, 2025, the Agreement will be null and 
void with no further obligation between the parties except those stated in the prior and underlying agreements.

Paused offering or selling franchises

On April 10, 2023, we received notice of an investigation from the Commissioner of California’s Department of Financial Protection and Innovation (“DFPI”) related 
to our compliance with California’s Franchise Investment Law. On November 4, 2024, without admission of wrongdoing, we entered into a Consent Order with the DFPI to 
resolve the matter.

In addition, on April 26, 2024, we received a request for information from the Office of the Attorney General of the State of Maryland related to our compliance with 
Maryland’s Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. As a result of the inquiry, the Company has been unable to offer and sell franchises in Maryland, except in cases 
where an exemption permitted sales to persons who met specific criteria. The Maryland matter is ongoing. The Company is aware of investigations being conducted by the 
Office of the Attorney General of the State of New York, the Washington Department of Financial Institutions, and the Virginia Division of Securities and Retail Franchising 
regarding the Company’s compliance with applicable franchise laws.
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In March 2025, the 2025 Franchise Disclosure Documents (“FDDs”) were issued for the BFT, Club Pilates, CycleBar, Pure Barre, Rumble, Stretch Lab, and Yoga Six 
franchise programs. The franchisors can offer and sell franchises in most states using the 2025 FDDs (except for Rumble and CycleBar due to the divestiture discussed above). 
The franchisors continue pursuit of registration of the FDDs in the few remaining states that still require registration and the pause on offering or selling franchises is ongoing 
in these states. The inability to sell licenses for an extended period has slowed growth and could result in a reduction in anticipated royalty or franchise revenue, which in turn 
may materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Restructuring Plan

In the third quarter of 2023, we began a restructuring plan that involves exiting company-owned transition studios and other measures designed to reduce costs to 
achieve our long-term margin goals and focus on pure franchise operations. The plan was approved and initiated in the third quarter of 2023 and is expected to continue 
throughout 2025; however, the ultimate timing of the completion of our restructuring plan will depend on lease termination negotiations. During the fourth quarter of 2023 our 
restructuring plan was expanded due to the addition of Rumble company-owned transition studios to the restructuring plan and a refranchising plan that was terminated by the 
Company due to the refranchisor’s non-compliance with the franchise agreements and the subsequent closure of certain studios. This refranchise termination resulted in us 
incurring losses for contract termination expenses, other expenses associated with exiting the studios, and loss contingencies related to the refranchisor’s unpaid payroll. 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, we recognized total restructuring charges of $1.5 million, net of gains, and $3.9 million, net of gains, respectively, 
primarily for contract termination and other associated costs, loss (gain) on lease terminations and sale or disposal of assets, impairment of right-of-use assets and other 
restructuring charges.

We expect to recognize additional restructuring charges throughout 2025 totaling between approximately $13.1 million to $16.8 million for rent expense, including 
amortization of the right-of-use assets and accretion of the operating lease liability, lease termination gains or losses, and other variable lease costs related to company-owned 
transition studios and other restructuring charges. We are considering subleases or negotiating lease terminations for operating leases for certain studios for which we have 
lease liabilities recorded and the expected cash payments and expenses to exit the lease may be greater than expected rent expense for that period, depending on the outcome 
of lease negotiations. Cash outflows related to these lease terminations are expected to be incurred throughout 2025.

Once completed, we estimate annualized savings of approximately $13.5 million to $15.5 million as a result of the restructuring plan. However, we may not be able to 
fully realize the cost savings and benefits initially anticipated from the restructuring plan, as we may not be able to reach agreement with contractual counterparties or the 
charges may be greater than expected. Any reduction in the amount of annualized savings we expect to achieve would negatively impact our business. See Note 17 of Notes 
to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations

In addition to the impact of the risks described under “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, we believe that the 
most significant factors affecting our results of operations include:

•Licensing new qualified franchisees, selling additional licenses to existing franchisees and opening studios. Our growth depends upon our ability to successfully 
license new studios to new and existing franchisees. We believe our success in attracting new franchisees and expanding our relationships with our existing franchisees 
has resulted from our diverse offering of attractive brands, corporate level support, training provided to franchisees and the opportunity to realize attractive returns on 
their invested capital. We also believe our significant investments in centralized systems and infrastructure help support new and existing franchisees. To continue to 
attract qualified new franchisees, sell additional studios to existing franchisees and assist franchisees in opening their studios, we plan to continue to invest in our brands 
to enable them to deliver positive consumer experiences and in our integrated services at the brand level to support franchisees.

•Timing of studio openings. Our revenue growth depends to a significant extent on the number of studios that are open and operating. Many factors affect whether a 
new studio will be opened on time, if at all, including the availability and cost of financing, selection and availability of suitable studio locations, delays in hiring 
personnel as well as any delays in equipment delivery or installation. To the extent franchisees are unable to open new studios on the timeline we anticipate, or at all, we 
will not realize the revenue growth that we expect. We believe our investments in centralized systems and infrastructure, including real estate site selection, studio build-
out and design assistance help enable franchisees to open studios in a timely manner, and we plan to continue to invest in our systems to continue to provide assistance 
during the opening process.
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•Increasing same store sales. Our long-term revenue prospects are driven in part by franchisees’ ability to increase same store sales (discussed below). Several factors 
affect our same store sales in any given period, including the number of stores that have been in operation for a significant period of time, growth in total memberships 
and marketing and promotional efforts. We expect to continue to seek to grow same store sales and Average Unit Volumes (“AUVs”) by helping franchisees acquire 
new members, increase studio utilization and drive increased spend from consumers. We also intend to expand ancillary revenue streams, such as our digital platform 
offerings and retail merchandise.

 

•International and domestic expansion. We continue to invest in increasing the number of franchisees outside of North America. We have developed strong 
relationships and executed committed development contracts with master franchisees to propel our international growth. We plan to continue to invest in these 
relationships and seek new relationships and opportunities, including through acquisitions and partnerships, in countries that we have targeted for expansion. In the U.S., 
we may from time to time consider acquisition of and partnership with certain complimentary assets or businesses that can enhance and expand our brands and 
operations.

•Demand and competition for consumer income. Our revenue and future success will depend in part on the attractiveness of our brands and the services provided by 
franchisees relative to other fitness and entertainment options available to consumers. Our franchisees’ AUVs are dependent upon the performance of studios and may 
be impacted by reduced capacity as a result of various factors, including shifting consumer demand and behavior for fitness services. Macroeconomic factors such as 
inflation and recession, and economic factors affecting a particular geographic territory, may also increase competition for discretionary income, impact the returns 
generated by franchisees and therefore impact our operating results.

Key Performance Indicators

In addition to our financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”), we regularly review the 
following key metrics to measure performance, identify trends, formulate financial projections, compensate our employees, and monitor our business. While we believe that 
these metrics are useful in evaluating our business, other companies may not use similar metrics or may not calculate similarly titled metrics in a consistent manner.

All metrics in this “Key Performance Indicators” section are presented on an adjusted basis to reflect historical information of Lindora prior to the acquisition by the 
Company in January 2024 and on an adjusted basis to remove historical information or both Stride and Row House prior to their divestitures by the Company in February 
2024 and May 2024, respectively. Historical information has not been adjusted to reflect the wind down of AKT. All references to these metrics in this “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” use this same basis of reporting, unless noted otherwise.

The following table sets forth our key performance indicators for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024:
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six months ended June 30,
  2025   2024   2025   2024   
  ($ in thousands)   ($ in thousands)
System-wide sales  $ 473,534  $ 421,471  $ 940,331  $ 817,915  
Number of new studio openings globally, gross   86   108    202    219   
Number of studios operating globally (cumulative total as of period end)

  3,327   3,102   3,327   3,102  
Number of licenses sold globally (cumulative total as of period end)   6,344   6,125   6,344   6,125  
Number of licenses contractually obligated to open internationally (cumulative total as 
of period end)   1,013   1,048   1,013   1,048  
AUV (LTM as of period end)  $ 682   $ 641   $ 682   $ 641   
Quarterly AUV (run rate)  $ 659   $ 638   NA   NA   
Same store sales growth   1%  7%  3%  8%  
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The following tables present additional information related to our studio and license key performance indicators for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 
2024 :

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024  

  
North 

America   International   Global   
North 

America   International   Global  
Total operating studios:                   
Studios operating at beginning of period   2,806   492    3,298   2,647   432    3,079 
New studio openings, net   17   12   29   13   10   23 
Studios operating at end of period   2,823   504    3,327   2,660   442    3,102 
Franchise licenses sold:                   
Franchise licenses sold (total beginning of period)   5,359   927    6,286   5,226   812    6,038 
New franchise license sales   18   40   58   52   35   87 
Franchise licenses sold (total end of period)   5,377   967    6,344   5,278   847    6,125 
                   
Studios obligated to open internationally under MFAs:  June 30, 2025   June 30, 2024  
Gross studios obligated to open under MFAs      1,501         1,474    
Less: studios opened under MFAs      488          426     
Remaining studios obligated to open under MFAs      1,013         1,048    
Licenses sold by master franchisees, net      246          261     

(1)Reflects the number of licenses for studios which have already been sold, but not yet opened, by master franchisees under master franchise agreements, net of 
terminations.

  Six Months Ended June 30,   
  2025   2024   

  
North 

America   International   Global   
North 

America   International   Global   
Total operating studios:                    
Studios operating at beginning of period   2,758   475    3,233   2,583   411    2,994  
New studio openings, net   65   29   94   77   31   108   
Studios operating at end of period   2,823   504    3,327   2,660   442    3,102  
Franchise licenses sold:                    
Franchise licenses sold (total beginning of period)   5,359   906    6,265   5,106   759    5,865  
New franchise license sales   18   61   79   172    88   260   
Franchise licenses sold (total end of period)   5,377   967    6,344   5,278   847    6,125  
Development fee payments on future franchise licenses:                    
Development fee payments on future franchise licenses (total end of 
period)   9    —   9    —   —   —  
                    
Studios obligated to open internationally under MFAs:  June 30, 2025   June 30, 2024   
Gross studios obligated to open under MFAs      1,501         1,474     
Less: studios opened under MFAs      488          426      
Remaining studios obligated to open under MFAs      1,013         1,048     
Licenses sold by master franchisees, net      246          261      

(1)Reflects the number of development fee payments on future franchise licenses received by us and unused as of period end. The number of development fee payments 
on future franchise licenses is not included in the franchise licenses sold count.

(2)Reflects the number of licenses for studios which have already been sold, but not yet opened, by master franchisees under master franchise agreements, net of 
terminations.

System-Wide Sales

System-wide sales represent gross sales by all studios in North America. System-wide sales includes sales by franchisees that are not revenue realized by us in 
accordance with GAAP. While we do not record sales by franchisees as revenue, and such sales are not included in our consolidated financial statements, this operating metric 
relates to our revenue because we receive approximately 7% and 2% of the sales by franchisees as royalty revenue and marketing fund revenue, respectively. We believe that 
this operating measure aids in understanding how we derive our royalty revenue and marketing fund revenue and is important in evaluating our performance. 

(1)

(1)

(2)



 

42

System-wide sales growth is driven by new studio openings and increases in same store sales. Management reviews system-wide sales weekly, which enables us to assess 
changes in our franchise revenue, overall studio performance, the health of our brands and the strength of our market position relative to competitors.

New Studio Openings

The number of new studio openings reflects the number of studios opened during a particular reporting period. We consider a new studio to be open once the studio 
begins offering classes. Opening new studios is an important part of our growth strategy. New studios may not generate material revenue in the early period following an 
opening and their revenue may not follow historical patterns. Management reviews the number of new studio openings in order to help forecast operating results and to 
monitor studio opening processes.

Studios No Longer Operating

A studio is considered no longer operating and excluded from the total number of studios operating if (a) the Company has reason to believe, after reasonable inquiry, 
that the studio is permanently closed, with no plans for re-opening or relocation, or (b) it has no sales for nine consecutive months or more, whichever comes first. If a studio 
deemed to be no longer operating subsequently generates sales at a future date, it re-enters the operating studio count (and the number of studios no longer operating is 
reduced). Studios classified as no longer operating are deemed permanently closed. Furthermore, studios no longer operating also includes de-branded studios (studios that 
exit our franchise system and continue to operate independently under non-Xponential branding).

Number of Studios Operating

In addition to the number of new studios opened and studios no longer operating during a period, we track the number of total studios operating at the end of a 
reporting period. This number represents studios that have already opened, are generating revenue, and are regularly holding classes, though this number could include some 
number of studios that have temporarily suspended operations, but that are not permanently closed and have not yet met the definition for a Studio No Longer Operating. The 
number of studios that have temporarily suspended operations is an immaterial percentage of our total studio base. Please see the table in the “Same Store Sales” section, sub 
header “North America studios contributing to same store sales.” The line “studios without 13 months of consecutive sales as of the last month that had positive sales within 
the period being measured” is an indicator for the number of North America traditional location studios that are older than 13 months, and that have had a recent or current 
disruption in sales, but that are still included in the Number of Studios Operating count. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, this represented 0.2% of our North 
America studio base compared to 0.7% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024. While nearly all our franchised studios are licensed to franchisees, from time to time 
we operate a limited number of company-owned transition studios (typically as we take possession of a studio following a franchisee ceasing to operate it and as we prepare it 
to be licensed to a new franchisee). Management reviews the number of studios operating at a given point in time in order to help forecast system-wide sales, franchise 
revenue and other revenue streams.
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The following tables contain information about changes in the number of our North America operating studios for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 
2024, respectively:

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,
  2025   2024   2025   2024   
North America franchisee-owned studios              
Studios operated at beginning of period   2,805   2,646   2,757   2,562  
New studio openings   66   89   159    174   
Refranchised studios   —   —   —   10  
Studios no longer operating   (49)   (76)   (94)   (87)  
Studios operated at end of period   2,822   2,659   2,822   2,659  
              

North America company-owned transition studios              
Studios operated at beginning of period   1    1    1    21  
Refranchised studios   —   —   —   (10)  
Studios no longer operating   —   —   —   (10)  
Studios operated at end of period   1    1    1    1   
              

Total North America studios              
Studios operated at beginning of period   2,806   2,647   2,758   2,583  
New studio openings   66   89   159    174   
Studios no longer operating   (49)   (76)   (94)   (97)  
Studios operated at end of period   2,823   2,660   2,823   2,660  

(1)Includes previously franchised company-owned studios that were converted to franchisee-owned studios in the period.

The following table sets forth the total number of operating studios internationally for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024:

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,
  2025   2024   2025   2024   
Total studios              
Studios operated at beginning of period   492    432    475    411   
New studio openings   20   19   43   45  
Studios no longer operating   (8)   (9)   (14)   (14)  
Studios operated at end of period   504    442    504    442   

The following table sets forth the total number of operating studios globally for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024:

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,
  2025   2024   2025   2024   
Total studios              
Studios operated at beginning of period   3,298   3,079   3,233   2,994  
New studio openings   86   108    202    219   
Studios no longer operating   (57)   (85)   (108)   (111)  
Studios operated at end of period   3,327   3,102   3,327   3,102  

Non-Traditional Studio Locations

Non-traditional studio locations refers to studios that are not operated as standalone studio locations. There are currently 20 non-traditional studio locations globally, 
which are comprised of studios operated inside of other fitness facilities and on cruise ships.

 (1)

(1)
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Licenses Sold

The number of licenses sold in North America and globally reflect the cumulative number of licenses sold by us (or, outside of North America, by or to our master 
franchisees), since inception through the date indicated. The number of licenses sold is not reduced by terminations. The number of licenses sold does not generally include 
license renewals or licenses issued in connection with a change in ownership of operating studios. Licenses contractually obligated to open refer to licenses sold net of opened 
studios and terminations. Licenses contractually obligated to be sold internationally reflect the number of licenses that master franchisees are contractually obligated to sell to 
franchisees to open internationally that have not yet opened as of the date indicated. The number of licenses contractually obligated to open is a useful indicator of the number 
of studios that may open in the future, although it is not certain that these studios will open. Management reviews the number of licenses sold and the number of licenses 
contractually obligated to open to help monitor and forecast studio growth, system-wide sales and revenue streams.

As of June 30, 2025, we estimate approximately forty percent of our global license obligations are over 12 months behind the applicable development schedule due to 
various circumstances and are currently inactive. This delay in development has resulted in delays in studio openings and may also lead to increased terminations, which could 
have a negative long-term impact on our business and operating results.

Development fee payments on future franchise licenses

As part of a multi-unit agreement, franchisees purchase an initial franchise license and make nonrefundable development fee payments to reserve the right to open 
additional studios. The number of development fee payments on future franchise licenses sold in North America reflect the number of development fee payments received by 
us and unused as of period end. The number of development fee payments on future franchise licenses is not included in the licenses sold count. The remaining balance of the 
franchise license fee for each additional studio is due upon site selection for the studio and signing of a franchise agreement by the franchisee. The number of development fee 
payments on future franchise licenses is a useful indicator of the number of additional licenses that may be sold in the future, although it is not certain that these development 
fee payments will result in a sold license. Management reviews the number of development fee payments on future franchise licenses to help monitor and forecast license sales 
and studio growth.

Average Unit Volume

AUV is calculated by dividing sales during the applicable period for all studios contributing to AUV by the number of studios contributing to AUV. All traditional 
studio locations in North America are included in the AUV calculation, as long as they meet certain time since opening and sales criteria (as defined immediately below). In 
particular, AUV (LTM as of period end) and Quarterly AUV (run rate) are calculated as follows:

•AUV (LTM as of period end) consists of the average sales for the trailing 12 calendar months for all traditional studio locations in North America that opened at least 
13 calendar months ago as of the measurement date and that have generated positive sales for each of the last 13 calendar months as of the measurement date. 

•Quarterly AUV (run rate) consists of average quarterly sales for all traditional studio locations in North America that had opened at least six calendar months ago as of 
the beginning of the respective quarter, and that have non-zero sales in the respective quarter (including nominal or negative sales figures; the only figures excluded are 
exact $0 amounts in the quarter), multiplied by four. 

 
We measure sales for AUV based solely upon monthly sales as derived through the designated point-of-sale system. AUV is impacted by changes in same store sales, studio 
openings and studio closures. Management reviews AUV to assess studio economics.
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The following table reconciles our North America operating studios for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, to the total studios 
contributing to both AUV (LTM as of period end) and Quarterly AUV (run rate):

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,
  2025   2024   2025   2024   

North America studios contributing to AUV (LTM as of period)              
Operating studios (end of period)   2,823   2,660   2,823   2,660  
Studios no longer operating but generated sales in the period   12   4    12   4   
Less: studios less than 13 months old   (365)   (456)   (365)   (456)  
Less: non-traditional studio locations   (4)   (7)   (4)   (7)  
Less: studios without 13 months of consecutive sales as of measurement date   (9)   (27)   (9)   (27)  
Total   2,457   2,174   2,457   2,174  
              

North America studios contributing to Quarterly AUV (run rate)              
Operating studios (end of period)   2,823   2,660  NA   NA   
Studios no longer operating but generated sales in the period   76   33  NA   NA   
Less: studios less than 6 months old   (242)   (312)  NA   NA   
Less: non-traditional studio locations   (4)   (8)  NA   NA   
Less: studios with no sales in the period   (1)   (2)  NA   NA   
Total   2,652   2,371  NA   NA   

Same Store Sales

Same store sales refer to period-over-period sales comparisons for the base of studios. We define the same store sales to include monthly sales for any traditional 
studio location in North America. If the studio has generated at least 13 months of consecutive positive sales and opened at least 13 calendar months ago as of any month 
within the measurement period, the respective comparable months will be included. We measure same store sales based solely upon monthly sales as derived through the 
designated point-of-sale system. This measure highlights the performance of existing studios, while excluding the impact of new studio openings. Management reviews same 
store sales to assess the health of the franchised studios.

The following table reconciles our North America operating studios for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, to the total studios 
contributing to same store sales:

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,
  2025   2024   2025   2024   

North America studios contributing to same store sales              
Operating studios (end of period)

  2,823   2,660   2,823   2,660  
Studios no longer operating but generated sales in the period   37   16   91   35  
Less: studios less than 13 months old   (365)   (456)   (365)   (456)  
Less: non-traditional studio locations   (4)   (7)   (4)   (7)  
Less: studios without 13 months of consecutive sales as of the last month that had 
positive sales within the period being measured   (7)   (19)   (5)   (19)  
Total   2,484   2,194   2,540   2,213  
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Results of Operations

The following table presents our condensed consolidated results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024:
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  
  (in thousands)  
Revenue, net:             
Franchise revenue  $ 45,353  $ 43,020  $ 89,247  $ 84,774 
Equipment revenue   9,509   12,925   20,613   26,825 
Merchandise revenue   5,613   6,134   11,868   14,479 
Franchise marketing fund revenue   9,461   8,380   18,730   16,212 
Other service revenue   6,272   6,444   12,633   14,306 

Total revenue, net   76,208   76,903   153,091   156,596 
Operating costs and expenses:         
Costs of product revenue   10,505   13,933   22,477   28,499 
Costs of franchise and service revenue   3,955   5,834   8,052   10,881 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   24,084   36,989   69,629   73,609 
Impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets   12,928   12,089   14,843   12,089 
Depreciation and amortization   2,973   4,517   5,929   8,953 
Marketing fund expense   8,855   7,847   18,212   14,362 
Acquisition and transaction expenses (income)   (1,915)   (1,217)   (10,553)   3,298 

Total operating costs and expenses   61,385   79,992   128,589   151,691 
Operating income (loss)   14,823   (3,089)   24,502   4,905 
Other expense (income):         
Interest income   (701)   (387)   (1,320)   (750)
Interest expense   12,975   11,256   24,363   22,801 
Other expense   891    253    1,975   862  

Total other expense   13,165   11,122   25,018   22,913 
Income (loss) before income taxes   1,658   (14,211)   (516)   (18,008)
Income taxes   312    132    797    85 
Net income (loss)

 $ 1,346  $ (14,343)  $
(1,313

)  $ (18,093)
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The following table presents our condensed consolidated results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 as a percentage of revenue:
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  
           (As Corrected)  
Revenue, net:             
Franchise revenue   60%   56%   58%   54%
Equipment revenue   12%   17%   13%   17%
Merchandise revenue   7%   8%   8%   10%
Franchise marketing fund revenue   12%   11%   13%   10%
Other service revenue   9%   8%   8%   9%
Total revenue, net   100%   100%   100%   100%

Operating costs and expenses:         
Costs of product revenue   14%   18%   15%   18%
Costs of franchise and service revenue   5%   8%   5%   7%
Selling, general and administrative expenses   32%   48%   45%   47%
Impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets   17%   16%   10%   8%
Depreciation and amortization   4%   6%   4%   6%
Marketing fund expense   12%   10%   12%   9%
Acquisition and transaction expenses (income)   (3)%   (2)%   (7)%   2%
Total operating costs and expenses   81%   104%   84%   97%

Operating income (loss)   19%   (4)%   16%   3%
Other expense (income):         
Interest income   (1)%   (1)%   (1)%   —%
Interest expense   17%   15%   16%   15%
Other expense   1%   —%   1%   1%

Total other expense   17%   14%   16%   16%
Income (loss) before income taxes   2%   (18)%   —%   (13)%
Income taxes   —%   —%   1%   —%
Net Income (loss)   2%   (18)%   1%   (13)%

Comparison of the three months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024

The following is a discussion of our consolidated results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2025 versus the three months ended June 30, 2024.

Revenue

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Change from Prior Year  
  2025   2024   $   %  
  ($ in thousands)     
Franchise revenue  $ 45,353  $ 43,020  $ 2,333   5.4%
Equipment revenue   9,509   12,925   (3,416)   (26.4)%
Merchandise revenue   5,613   6,134   (521)   (8.5 )%
Franchise marketing fund revenue   9,461   8,380   1,081   12.9%
Other service revenue   6,272   6,444   (172)   (2.7 )%

Total revenue, net  $ 76,208  $ 76,903  $ (695)   (0.9 )%
 

 
Total revenue, net. Total revenue was $76.2 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $76.9 million in the three months ended June 30, 2024, a 

decrease of $0.7 million, or 1%. The decrease in total revenue was primarily due to a decrease in equipment revenue due to a decrease in equipment installations and a 
decrease in merchandise revenue, partially offset by an increase in franchise revenue and franchise marketing fund revenue.
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Franchise revenue. Franchise revenue was $45.4 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $43.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 
2024, an increase of $2.3 million, or 5%. Franchise revenue consisted of franchise royalty fees of $33.7 million, franchise territory fees of $4.4 million, technology fees of 
$4.4 million and training fees of $2.9 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to franchise royalty fees of $28.5 million, franchise territory fees of $7.4 
million, technology fees of $4.2 million and training fees of $2.9 million in the three months ended June 30, 2024. The increase in franchise royalty fees and technology fees 
was primarily due to an increase in number of operating studios globally since June 30, 2024. The decrease in franchise territory fees is primarily attributed to a decrease of 
$3.0 million, or 83%, in revenue recognized as a result of franchise agreement terminations year-over-year to $0.6 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared 
to $3.6 million in the prior year period.

Equipment revenue. Equipment revenue was $9.5 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $12.9 million in the three months ended June 30, 
2024, a decrease of $3.4 million, or 26%. Most equipment revenue is recognized in the period when the equipment is installed. The decrease in equipment revenue was 
primarily driven by a decrease in global equipment installations in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to the prior year period, driven by a decrease in studio 
openings compared to the prior year period and consistent with the decrease in franchise license sales in recent periods.

Merchandise revenue. Merchandise revenue was $5.6 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $6.1 million in the three months ended June 30, 
2024, a decrease of $0.5 million, or 8%. The decrease was primarily due to lower demand from studios and a decrease in vendor rebates compared to the prior period.

Franchise marketing fund revenue. Franchise marketing fund revenue was $9.5 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $8.4 million in the three 
months ended June 30, 2024, an increase of $1.1 million, or 13%. The increase was primarily due to an increase in number of operating studios in North America since June 
30, 2024.

Other service revenue. Other service revenue was $6.3 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $6.4 million in the three months ended June 30, 
2024, a decrease of 3%. The decrease was primarily due to a $0.2 million decrease in other preferred vendor commission revenue and brand fee revenue.

Operating Costs and Expenses
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Change from Prior Year  
  2025   2024   $   %  
  ($ in thousands)     
Costs of product revenue  $ 10,505  $ 13,933  $ (3,428)   (24.6)%
Costs of franchise and service revenue   3,955   5,834   (1,879)   (32.2)%
Selling, general and administrative expenses   24,084   36,989   (12,905)   (34.9)%
Impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets   12,928   12,089   839    6.9%
Depreciation and amortization   2,973   4,517   (1,544)   (34.2)%
Marketing fund expense   8,855   7,847   1,008   12.8%
Acquisition and transaction income   (1,915)   (1,217)   (698)   57.4%

Total operating costs and expenses  $ 61,385  $ 79,992  $ (18,607)   (23.3)%
 

Costs of product revenue. Costs of product revenue was $10.5 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $13.9 million in the three months ended 
June 30, 2024, a decrease of $3.4 million, or 25%, compared to a decrease in related revenues of 21%. The decrease in cost of product revenue was partially driven by a 
decrease in global equipment installations in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to the prior year period. Costs of product revenue as a percentage of related 
revenue decreased to 69% in the three months ended June 30, 2025, from 73% in the comparable prior year period. The decrease was partly due to a decrease in write downs 
of slow-moving inventory in the current year period.

Costs of franchise and service revenue. Costs of franchise and service revenue was $4.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $5.8 million in 
the three months ended June 30, 2024, a decrease of $1.9 million, or 32%. The decrease was primarily due to a $2.0 million decrease in franchise sales commissions, 
consistent with the related franchise territory revenue decrease. The decrease in cost of franchise and service revenue is also attributed to a decrease of $1.5 million, or 79%, in 
costs recognized as a result of franchise agreement terminations year-over-year to $0.4 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $1.9 million in the prior 
year period.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses were $24.1 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to 
$37.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 2024, a decrease of $12.9 million, or 35%. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in legal expenses of $7.6 
million (driven by nonrecurring insurance credits of $15.0 million in the current period) related to various legal matters including government investigations; a decrease of 
$1.5 million in equity-based compensation expense due to an increase in forfeitures over the prior year period; a decrease in marketing and advertising expenses of $0.9 
million; lower restructuring and related charges of $1.0 million in the current year period; a decrease in salaries and wages of $0.5 million; and a net decrease in other variable 
expenses of $1.4 million.

Impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets. Impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets was $12.9 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, 
compared to $12.1 million in the three months ended June 30, 2024, an increase of $0.8 million. The increase was due to impairments of goodwill of $5.1 million and $2.3 
million related to the BFT and Lindora reporting units, respectively, impairment of trademark of $3.4 million related to the CycleBar reporting unit, and other noncurrent asset 
impairments of $2.0 million compared to write down of franchise agreements and goodwill of $12.1 million related to the CycleBar reporting unit in the prior year period.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was $3.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $4.5 million in the 
three months ended June 30, 2024, a decrease of $1.5 million, or 34%. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in fixed assets related to impairment of software assets 
and a decrease in intangible assets due to impairments during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Marketing fund expense. Marketing fund expense was $8.9 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $7.8 million in the three months ended June 
30, 2024, an increase of $1.0 million, or 13%. Marketing fund expenses are recorded as incurred, which may not occur in the same period as the recognition of franchise 
marketing fund revenue. For the three months ended June 30, 2025, marketing fund revenue was $0.6 million higher than marketing fund expense, however marketing fund 
expense is expected to increase in the second half of 2025.

Acquisition and transaction income. Acquisition and transaction income was $1.9 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to income of $1.2 
million in the three months ended June 30, 2024, a decrease of $0.7 million, or 57%. These charges primarily represent the non-cash change in contingent consideration 
related to 2021 and 2024 business acquisitions.

Other (Income) Expense, net
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Change from Prior Year  
  2025   2024   $   %  
  ($ in thousands)     

Interest income  $ (701)  $ (387)  $ (314)   81.1%
Interest expense   12,975   11,256   1,719   15.3%
Other expense   891    253    638    252.2%

Total other expense, net  $ 13,165  $ 11,122  $ 2,043   18.4%
 
Interest income. Interest income primarily consists of interest on notes receivable and interest income received from various interest-bearing bank accounts, which 

was $0.7 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.4 million in the three months ended June 30, 2024.

Interest expense. Interest expense was $13.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $11.3 million in the three months ended June 30, 2024, an 
increase of $1.7 million, or 15%. Interest expense consists of interest on long-term debt, accretion of earn-out liabilities and amortization and write off of deferred loan costs 
and debt discount. The increase was primarily due to higher average debt balances in the current year period, partly offset by lower average interest rates on our credit 
agreement.

Other expense. Other expense consists of TRA expense, which was $0.9 million in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.3 million in the three 
months ended June 30, 2024.

Income Taxes

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Change from Prior Year  
  2025   2024   $   %  
  ($ in thousands)     

Income taxes  $ 312   $ 132   $ 180    136.4%
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Income taxes (benefit). Income taxes was 18.8% of our share of pre-tax book income in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to (0.9%) of pre-tax book 
loss in the three months ended June 30, 2024.

Comparison of the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024

The following is a discussion of our consolidated results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2025 versus the six months ended June 30, 2024.

 
  Six Months Ended June 30,   Change from Prior Year  
  2025   2024   $   %  
  ($ in thousands)     
Franchise revenue  $ 89,247  $ 84,774  $ 4,473   5.3%
Equipment revenue   20,613   26,825   (6,212)   (23.2)%
Merchandise revenue   11,868   14,479   (2,611)   (18.0)%
Franchise marketing fund revenue   18,730   16,212   2,518   15.5%
Other service revenue   12,633   14,306   (1,673)   (11.7)%

Total revenue, net  $ 153,091  $ 156,596  $ (3,505)   (2.2 )%

 
Total revenue. Total revenue was $153.1 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $156.6 million in the six months ended June 30, 2024, a decrease 

of $3.5 million, or 2%. The decrease in total revenue was primarily due to a decrease in equipment revenue due to a decrease in equipment installations and a decrease in 
merchandise revenue, partially offset by an increase in franchise revenue and franchise marketing fund revenue.

Franchise revenue. Franchise revenue was $89.2 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $84.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2024 , an 
increase of $4.5 million, or 5%. Franchise revenue consisted of franchise royalty fees of $66.2 million, franchise territory fees of $8.1 million, technology fees of $8.8 million 
and training fees of $6.1 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to franchise royalty fees of $56.0 million, franchise territory fees of $14.7 million, 
technology fees of $8.3 million and training fees of $5.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2024. The increase in franchise royalty fees, technology fees and training 
fees was primarily due to an increase in number of operating studios globally since June 30, 2024 (including studios related to the Lindora acquisition in the first quarter of 
2024), partly offset by a decrease in franchise territory fees. The decrease in franchise territory fees is primarily attributed to a decrease of $5.4 million, or 79%, in revenue 
recognized as a result of franchise agreement terminations year-over-year to $1.4 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $6.8 million in the prior year 
period.

Equipment revenue. Equipment revenue was $20.6 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $26.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2024, a 
decrease of $6.2 million, or 23%. Most equipment revenue is recognized in the period when the equipment is installed. The decrease in equipment revenue was primarily 
driven by a decrease in global equipment installations in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to the prior year period, driven by a decrease in studio openings 
compared to the prior year period and consistent with the decrease in franchise license sales in recent periods.

Merchandise revenue. Merchandise revenue was $11.9 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025 compared to $14.5 million in the six months ended June 30, 
2024, a decrease of $2.6 million, or 18%. The decrease was due primarily to a decrease in demand from studios and a decrease in vendor rebates compared to the prior period.

Franchise marketing fund revenue. Franchise marketing fund revenue was $18.7 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $16.2 million in the six 
months ended June 30, 2024, an increase of $2.5 million, or 16%. The increase was primarily due to an increase in number of operating studios in North America since June 
30, 2024.

Other service revenue. Other service revenue was $12.6 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $14.3 million in the six months ended June 30, 
2024, a decrease of $1.7 million, or 12%. The decrease was primarily due to a $1.2 million decrease in package and memberships revenue due to a lower average number of 
company-owned transition studios.
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  Six Months Ended June 30,   Change from Prior Year  
  2025   2024   $   %  
  ($ in thousands)     

Costs of product revenue  $ 22,477  $ 28,499  $ (6,022)   (21.1)%
Costs of franchise and service revenue   8,052   10,881   (2,829)   (26.0)%
Selling, general and administrative expenses   69,629   73,609   (3,980)   (5.4 )%
Impairment of goodwill and other assets   14,843   12,089   2,754   22.8%
Depreciation and amortization   5,929   8,953   (3,024)   (33.8)%
Marketing fund expense   18,212   14,362   3,850   26.8%
Acquisition and transaction expenses (income)   (10,553)   3,298   (13,851)   (420.0)%

Total operating costs and expenses  $ 128,589  $ 151,691  $ (23,102)   (15.2)%

 
Costs of product revenue. Costs of product revenue was $22.5 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $28.5 million in the six months ended June 

30, 2024, a decrease of $6.0 million, or 21%, compared to a decrease in related revenues of 21%. The decrease in cost of product revenue was primarily driven by a decrease in 
global equipment installations in the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to the prior year period. Costs of product revenue as a percentage of related revenue was 
69% in both the six months ended June 30, 2025, and 2024.

Costs of franchise and service revenue. Costs of franchise and service revenue was $8.1 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $10.9 million in 
the six months ended June 30, 2024, a decrease of $2.8 million, or 26%. The decrease was primarily due to a $3.5 million decrease in franchise sales commissions, consistent 
with the related franchise territory revenue decrease.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses were $69.6 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to 
$73.6 million in the six months ended June 30, 2024, a decrease of $4.0 million, or 5%. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in salaries and wages of $0.2 
million related to a lower average number of company-owned transition studios; a decrease in occupancy expenses of $0.5 million primarily related to a decrease in the 
number of company-owned transition studios; a decrease in equity-based compensation expense of $2.2 million primarily due to a decrease in the number of equity-classified 
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) outstanding during the current year period and an increase in forfeitures over the prior year period; a decrease in marketing and advertising 
expenses of $1.7 million; and lower restructuring and related charges of $8.3 million in the current year period; partially offset by an increase in legal expenses of $8.0 
million (net of nonrecurring insurance credits of $29.8 million in the current period) related to various legal matters; and a net increase in other variable expenses of $0.9 
million.

Impairment of goodwill and other assets. Impairment of goodwill and other assets was $14.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $12.1 
million in the six months ended June 30, 2024, an increase of $2.8 million, or 23%. The increase was due to impairments of goodwill of $5.1 million and $2.3 million related 
to the BFT and Lindora reporting units, respectively, impairment of trademark of $3.4 million related to the CycleBar reporting unit, and other noncurrent asset impairments 
of $3.9 million compared to write down of franchise agreements and goodwill of $12.1 million related to the CycleBar reporting unit in the prior year period.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was $5.9 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $9.0 million in the six 
months ended June 30, 2024, a decrease of $3.0 million, or 34%. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in fixed assets related to impairment of software assets and a 
decrease in intangible assets due to impairments during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Marketing fund expense. Marketing fund expense was $18.2 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $14.4 million in the six months ended June 
30, 2024, an increase of $3.9 million, or 27% and is consistent with the increase in franchise marketing fund revenue. Marketing fund expenses are recorded as incurred, 
which may not occur in the same period as the recognition of franchise marketing fund revenue. For the six months ended June 30, 2025, marketing fund revenue was $0.5 
million higher than marketing fund expense, however marketing fund expense is expected to increase in the second half of 2025.

Acquisition and transaction expenses (income). Acquisition and transaction income was $10.6 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to expense of 
$3.3 million in the six months ended June 30, 2024, an increase in income of $13.9 million, or 420%. These charges primarily represent the non-cash change in contingent 
consideration related to 2021 and 2024 business acquisitions.

 



 

52

  Six Months Ended June 30,   Change from Prior Year  
  2025   2024   $   %  
  ($ in thousands)     
Interest income  $ (1,320)  $ (750)  $ (570)   76.0%
Interest expense   24,363   22,801   1,562   6.9%
Other expense   1,975   862    1,113   129.1%

Total other expense, net  $ 25,018  $ 22,913  $ 2,105   9.2%
 

Interest income. Interest income primarily consists of interest on notes receivable and interest income received from various
interest-bearing bank accounts, which was $1.3 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2024.

Interest expense. Interest expense was $24.4 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $22.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2024, an 
increase of $1.6 million, or 7%. Interest expense consists of interest on long-term debt, accretion of earn-out liabilities and amortization of deferred loan costs and debt 
discount. The increase was primarily due to higher average debt balances in the current year period, partly offset by lower average interest rates on our credit agreement.

Other expense. Other expense consists of TRA expense, which was $2.0 million in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.9 million in the six months 
ended June 30, 2024.
 

  Six Months Ended June 30,   Change from Prior Year  
  2025   2024   $   %  
  ($ in thousands)     

Income taxes  $ 797   $ 85  $ 712    837.6%
 

Income taxes. Income taxes were (154.5%) of pre-tax book income (loss) in the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to (0.5%) in the six months ended June 30, 
2024.
 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe the following non-GAAP measures are useful in evaluating our operating performance. 
We use the following non-GAAP financial information to evaluate our ongoing operations and for internal planning and forecasting purposes. We believe that non-GAAP 
financial information, when collectively taken, is helpful to investors because it provides consistency and comparability with past financial performance. In addition, our 
management uses non-GAAP measures to compare our performance relative to forecasts and to benchmark our performance externally against competitors. However, non-
GAAP financial information is presented for supplemental informational purposes only, has limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in isolation or as a 
substitute for financial information presented in accordance with GAAP. In addition, other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate and present 
similarly titled non-GAAP measures differently or may use other measures to evaluate their performance, all of which could reduce the usefulness of our non-GAAP financial 
measure as tools for comparison. A reconciliation is provided below for the non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable financial measures stated in 
accordance with GAAP. Investors are encouraged to review the related GAAP financial measures and the reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measures to their most 
directly comparable GAAP financial measures and not rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business.

We believe that the non-GAAP financial measures presented below, when taken together with the corresponding GAAP financial measures, provide meaningful 
supplemental information regarding our performance by excluding certain items that may not be indicative of our business, results of operations or outlook.
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Adjusted EBITDA

We define adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA (net income/loss before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization), adjusted for the impact of certain non-cash and other 
items that we do not consider in our evaluation of ongoing operating performance. These items include equity-based compensation and related employer payroll taxes, 
acquisition and transaction expenses (income) (including change in contingent consideration and transaction bonuses), litigation expenses (consisting of legal and related fees 
for specific proceedings that arise outside of the ordinary course of our business net of insurance reimbursements), fees for financial transactions, such as secondary public 
offering expenses for which we do not receive proceeds (including bonuses paid to executives related to completion of such transactions) and other contemplated corporate 
transactions, expense related to the remeasurement of our TRA obligation, expense related to loss on impairment or write down of goodwill and other noncurrent assets, loss 
and ongoing expenses related to brand divestitures and wind down (including ongoing expenses directly related to the divested or wound down brands for arrangements that 
existed prior to divestiture or wind down), transformation initiative costs (primarily consisting of third-party professional consulting fees related to modifications of our 
business strategy and cost saving initiatives), and restructuring and related charges incurred in connection with our restructuring plan that we do not believe reflect our 
underlying business performance and affect comparability. EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are also frequently used by analysts, investors and other interested parties to 
evaluate companies in our industry.

We believe that adjusted EBITDA, viewed in addition to, and not in lieu of, our reported GAAP results, provides useful information to investors regarding our 
performance and overall results of operations because it eliminates the impact of other items that we believe reduce the comparability of our underlying core business 
performance from period to period and is therefore useful to our investors in comparing the core performance of our business from period to period.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net income (loss), the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP, to adjusted 
EBITDA for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024:

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  
  (in thousands)  
Net income (loss)  $ 1,346  $ (14,343)  $ (1,313)  $ (18,093)

Interest expense, net   12,274   10,869   23,043   22,051 
Income taxes   312    132    797    85 
Depreciation and amortization   2,973   4,517   5,929   8,953 

EBITDA   16,905   1,175   28,456   12,996 
Equity-based compensation   2,666   4,196   5,947   8,138 
Employer payroll taxes related to equity-based compensation   144    109    259    422  
Acquisition and transaction expenses (income)   (1,915)   (1,217)   (10,553)   3,298 
Litigation expenses (benefit)   (4,921)   3,388   11,268   4,086 
Financial transaction fees and related expenses   139    425    442    620  
TRA remeasurement   891    253    1,975   862  
Impairment of goodwill and other noncurrent assets   12,928   12,089   14,843   12,089 
Loss and ongoing expenses due to brand divestitures and wind down (excluding impairments)   —   922    81   864  
Executive transition costs   —   690    —   690  
Non-recurring rebranding expenses   —   331    —   331  
Transformation initiative costs   —   —   889    — 
Restructuring and related charges (excluding impairments)   1,263   2,325   1,818   10,210 

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 28,100  $ 24,686  $ 55,425  $ 54,606 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2025, we had $21.8 million of cash and cash equivalents, excluding $16.9 million of restricted cash consisting of marketing fund restricted cash of 
$16.1 million and a standby letter of credit guarantee.

We principally require cash to fund day-to-day operations, finance capital investments, service our outstanding debt and address our working capital needs. 
Additionally, we require cash to fund the investments in our data warehouse project and other investments to become a data driven company. Based on our current level of 
operations and anticipated growth, we believe that our available cash balance and the cash generated from our operations will be adequate to meet our anticipated debt service 
requirements and obligations under our TRA, capital expenditures, payment of tax distributions and working capital needs for at least the next twelve months beginning July 
1, 2025 and beyond such twelve month period based on our current business plans. Our ability to continue to fund these items and continue to reduce debt could be adversely 
affected by the occurrence of any of the events described under “Risk Factors”, as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
There can be no assurance, however, that our business will generate sufficient cash flows from operations or that future borrowings will be available under our credit facility 
or otherwise to enable us to service our indebtedness, including our credit facility, or to make anticipated capital expenditures. Our future operating performance and our 
ability to service, extend or refinance the credit facility will be subject to future economic conditions and to financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond 
our control.

Credit Facility

On April 19, 2021, we entered into a Financing Agreement with Wilmington Trust, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the lenders 
party thereto (the “Credit Agreement”), which consisted of a $212 million senior secured term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”, and the loans thereunder, each a “Term 
Loan” and together, the “Term Loans”). Affiliates of the lenders also separately purchased 200,000 shares of our 6.50% Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for $200 
million. Our obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by Xponential Intermediate Holdings, LLC and certain of our material subsidiaries, and are secured by 
substantially all of the assets of Xponential Intermediate Holdings, LLC and certain of our material subsidiaries.

The Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including, among other things: (i) to maintain certain total leverage ratios, liquidity 
levels and EBITDA levels (in each case, as discussed further in the Credit Agreement); (ii) to use the proceeds of borrowings only for certain specified purposes; (iii) to 
refrain from entering into certain agreements outside of the ordinary course of business, including with respect to consolidation or mergers; (iv) restricting further 
indebtedness or liens; (v) restricting certain transactions with our affiliates; (vi) restricting investments; (vii) restricting prepayments of subordinated indebtedness; (viii) 
restricting certain payments, including certain payments to our affiliates or equity holders and distributions to equity holders; and (ix) restricting the issuance of equity. 
Additionally, on March 10, 2025, we obtained a waiver related to EBITDA levels as the Credit Agreement did not contain active exceptions for non-recurring legal expenses. 
The waiver permits the exclusion of certain non-recurring legal expenses from the calculation of EBITDA through March 31, 2026. As of June 30, 2025, we were in 
compliance with these covenants.

On March 14, 2025, we entered into an eighth amendment (the “Eighth Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement. The Eighth Amendment extends the final maturity 
date under the Credit Agreement to August 1, 2027 (the “Final Maturity Date”) and provides for, among other things, additional term loans in an aggregate principal amount 
of $10.0 million (the “Eighth Amendment Incremental Term Loans”), an upfront fee equal to 3% of the (a) aggregate principal amount of term loans outstanding as of the 
amendment date and (b) the Eighth Amendment Incremental Term Loans funded on the funding date, which will be capitalized and added to the outstanding loan principal, 
and an exit fee of approximately $7.2 million payable upon the earlier of the Final Maturity Date or the date all loans under the Credit Agreement have been repaid or prepaid. 
The proceeds of the Eighth Amendment will be used for general corporate purposes. The Eighth Amendment also increased the amount of the quarterly principal payments of 
the loans provided pursuant to the Credit Agreement (including the Eighth Amendment Incremental Term Loans) commencing on March 31, 2025 to $1.4 million.

The total principal amount outstanding on the Term Loans, including exit fee, was $377.8 million at June 30, 2025. See Note 8 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated 
Financial Statements for additional information about our debt.

Material Cash Requirements

At June 30, 2025, there had been no material changes in our cash requirements from known contractual and other obligations as disclosed in Part II, Item 7, 
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Cash Flows

The following table presents summary cash flow information for the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024:
 

  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024  
  (in thousands)  

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  $ 8,341   $ 5,682  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   (2,860 )   (11,761 )
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   459    (4,998 )

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ 5,940   $ (11,077 )
 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

In the six months ended June 30, 2025, cash provided by operating activities was $8.3 million, compared to $5.7 million in the six months ended June 30, 2024, an 
increase in cash provided of $2.7 million. Of the increase, $6.9 million was due to higher net income after adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating 
activities and $4.3 million in unfavorable changes in working capital related to accounts receivable, accounts payable, inventories, prepaid expenses and other current assets 
and other current liabilities, partially offset by favorable changes in working capital related to accrued expenses, deferred revenue, other assets and other liabilities in the six 
months ended June 30, 2025, compared to the six months ended June 30, 2024.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

In the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, cash used in investing activities was $2.9 million and $11.8 million, respectively. The change year over year of $8.9 
million was primarily attributable to cash used of $8.5 million for acquisition of Lindora in the prior year and the decrease in cash used to purchase property and equipment of 
$1.0 million in the current year.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

In the six months ended June 30, 2025, cash provided by financing activities was $0.5 million, compared to cash used of $5.0 million in the six months ended June 30, 
2024, representing a year over year improvement of $5.5 million. The increase in cash provided was primarily attributable to net borrowings on long-term debt of $7.2 million 
in the current year, partially offset by payments of $2.1 million for taxes related to net share settlement of restricted share units.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of June 30, 2025, our off-balance sheet arrangements consisted of guarantees of lease agreements for certain franchisees. Our potential obligation under these 
agreements is approximately $2.2 million and would only require payment upon default by the primary obligor. We determined the fair value of these guarantees at inception 
was not material, and as of June 30, 2025 a $1.2 million accrual has been recorded for our potential obligation under the guaranty arrangements. See Note 16 of Notes to 
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding these operating leases and guarantees.

In July 2022, we entered into an agreement with a third-party financing company, who provides loans to our qualified franchisees, pursuant to which we serve as 
guarantor for such loans. In addition, we issued a $0.8 million standby letter of credit in connection therewith, which represents a portion of our potential aggregate liability 
under the guaranty. The standby letter of credit is contingent upon the failure of our franchisees to perform according to the terms of underlying contracts with the third party. 
We deposited cash in a restricted account as collateral for the standby letter of credit. The estimated fair value of these guarantees at inception was not material, and as of June 
30, 2025, a $0.7 million accrual has been recorded for our potential obligation under this guaranty arrangement. See Note 16 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements for more information.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

There have been no significant changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates from the information provided in Part II, Item 7, “Management's Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Market risk represents the risk to our financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily due to 
potential interest rate risk and potential increases in inflation. We do not hold financial instruments for trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to changes in interest rates as a result of the outstanding balance under our Credit Agreement. Our primary exposure is an increase in SOFR, which 
increases the interest rate we pay on the outstanding principal balance of our debt. The nature and amount of our long-term debt can be expected to vary as a result of future 
business requirements, market conditions and other factors. Any increases in our outstanding indebtedness will amplify the effects of increased interest rates.

As of June 30, 2025, the outstanding principal balance, net of exit fee, of $371.9 million on the Credit Agreement was subject to variable interest rates. Based upon a 
sensitivity analysis, a hypothetical 1% change in interest rates on our debt outstanding would change our annual interest expense by approximately $3.7 million.

Foreign Currency Risk

There was no significant foreign currency risk for the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 since we operate primarily in the United States for the periods 
presented. Accordingly, we believe we do not have a material exposure to foreign currency risk. We may continue to increase our international footprint, which may increase 
our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk.

Inflation Risk

As of June 30, 2025, we do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. However, to the extent 
inflation results in rising interest rates and has other adverse effects on the market, it may have an adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal 
executive officer and principal financial officer, respectively), of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended as of June 30, 2025.

An effective internal control system, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error or overriding of controls, and 
therefore can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to reliable financial reporting. Because of its inherent limitations, our internal control over financial reporting 
may not prevent or detect all misstatements, including the possibility of human error, the circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud. Effective internal controls can 
provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements.

Based upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of June 30, 2025, as a result of the material weaknesses in 
our internal control over financial reporting discussed in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, our disclosure controls and 
procedures were not effective.

Management has concluded that, notwithstanding the material weaknesses described below, the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements included in 
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly present, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows as of the date, and for the periods 
presented, in conformity with U.S. GAAP.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except as described in “Management’s Plan for Remediation Plan Status Update” below, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting 
during the quarter ended June 30, 2025 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Management's Plan for Remediation Status Update

As previously disclosed in Item 9 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, management identified material weaknesses in our 
internal control over financial reporting including that (i) we did not maintain a sufficient complement of accounting and financial reporting personnel who had appropriate 
levels of knowledge, experience, and training in accounting and internal control matters commensurate with the nature, growth and complexity of our business, (ii) we have 
deficiencies in accounting controls over the assessment of goodwill and intangibles for impairment, and (iii) we have deficiencies in accounting controls to capture the 
completeness of new and modified contracts on a timely basis.

As of June 30, 2025, we have made progress against the remediation plan that we previously disclosed under Part II, Item 9A. Controls and Procedures in the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024. While we believe that our remediation plan, once fully implemented, is sufficient to 
remediate the material weaknesses, such a conclusion cannot be reached until applicable controls have been designed, implemented and have operated for a sufficient period 
of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively. As of June 30, 2025, this evaluation remains ongoing.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

The material set forth in Note 16 (pertaining to information regarding legal contingencies) of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 1 of 
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The Company has included in Part 1, Item 1A of Part 1 of its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, a description of certain risks and 
uncertainties that could affect the Company's business, future performance or financial condition (the “Risk Factors”). There have been no material changes to the Risk 
Factors, except as set forth in our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2025 under the caption Item 1.A. Risk factors, which disclosure is incorporated by reference 
herein. Our operations could also be affected by additional factors that are not presently known to us or by factors that we currently consider immaterial to our business.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
 

Exhibit
Number  Description

10.1***  Retail Supply Agreement dated July 3, 2025, between the Company and Fit Commerce, a California Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of 
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 10, 2025).

   

 31.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

   

 31.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

   

 32.1**  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   

 32.2**  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   

101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline 
XBRL document.

101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
 

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
*** Previously filed.
 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1802156/000119312525157422/d98468dex101.htm
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto 
duly authorized.
 
 

 
Xponential Fitness, Inc.
(Registrant)

    
Date: August 8, 2025  By: /s/ John Meloun
   John Meloun

   

Chief Financial Officer
(Duly Authorized Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal 

Accounting Officer)
 





 

 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mike Nuzzo, certify that:

1.I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Xponential Fitness, Inc.;

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light 
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which 
this report is being prepared;

(b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles;

(c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the 
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting; and

5.The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and 
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely 
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting.

 
Date: August 8, 2025  By: /s/ Mike Nuzzo
   Mike Nuzzo
   Chief Executive Officer
   (Principal Executive Officer)
 





 

 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John Meloun, certify that:

1.I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Xponential Fitness, Inc.;

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light 
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which 
this report is being prepared;

(b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles;

(c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the 
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting; and

5.The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and 
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely 
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting.

 
Date: August 8, 2025  By: /s/ John Meloun
   John Meloun
   Chief Financial Officer
   (Principal Financial Officer)
 





 

 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Xponential Fitness, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2025, as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Mike Nuzzo, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant 
to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1)The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: August 8, 2025  By: /s/ Mike Nuzzo
   Mike Nuzzo
   Chief Executive Officer
   (Principal Executive Officer)
 





 

 

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Xponential Fitness, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2025, as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John Meloun, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant 
to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1)The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: August 8, 2025  By: /s/ John Meloun
   John Meloun
   Chief Financial Officer
   (Principal Financial Officer)
 




